EXTENDING HEAD-UP DISPLAYS

EXPLORING THE POTENTIAL OF LARGE & 3D AUTOMOTIVE WINDSHIELD DISPLAYS

DISSERTATION

an der Fakultät für Mathematik, Informatik und Statistik der Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität München

vorgelegt von

RENATE HÄUSLSCHMID

M. Sc. Automotive Software Engineering

May 16, 2018 in Munich

Erstgutachter:	Prof. Dr. Andreas Butz
Zweitgutachter:	Prof. Dr. Andrew Kun
Drittgutachter:	Prof. Dr. Martin Baumann
Berichterstatter:	Prof. Dr. Peer Kröger
Zweitbetreuer:	Prof. Dr. Tobias Höllerer

Tag der Einreichung:	16. Mai 2018
Tag der mündlichen Prüfung:	27. Juni 2018

Eidesstattliche Versicherung

(Siehe Promotionsordnung vom 12.07.11, § 8, Abs. 2 Pkt. 5)

Hiermit erkläre ich an Eidesstatt, dass die Dissertation von mir selbstständig und ohne unerlaubte Beihilfe angefertigt wurde.

München, den 16. Mai 2018

Renate Häuslschmid

ABSTRACT

Drivers consume an increasing amount of information while driving. The information is accessed on the in-car displays but also on personal devices such as the smartphone. Head-up displays are designed for a safe uptake of additional visual information while driving but their benefits are limited by the small display space. This motivates academia and industry to advance the head-up to the so-called *windshield display*. A windshield display will provide an extended display space, which largely or entirely covers the driver's visual field through the windshield, as well as 3D and depth perception. Technologically, they are not yet feasible, but, thanks to steady advancements they will become available in the future. Extending a small 2D to a large 3D space requires a rethinking of the entire user interface. The windshield display opens up new opportunities for the type and amount of information, as well as for the way it is presented – ranging up to full *augmented reality* but it also raises concerns about a distracted driver.

The core question of this thesis is whether such an extension is reasonable and desirable – meaning if there are convincing arguments and use cases which justify the potential risk of distraction. This thesis presents our research about the risks and benefits of the transition from a head-up to a wind-shield display. Thus, we explore the potentials and examine the safety risks and benefits as well as the drivers' satisfaction of various display aspects.

We developed a design space that shows how the new size and depth possibilities create new, or interrelate with existing, design factors. New design opportunities arise and suggest a redesign of existing functionality but also the integration of new content. We researched the information content that could be displayed on a windshield display and asked drivers what content they need and personally desire. We thereby obtained an extensive list of use cases and applications. We approached the question of where such content should be displayed, given the large 3D space.

To enable the design of safe interfaces, we first examined the driver's visual perception across the windshield and identified locations that promote information recognition, particularly in the new peripheral area. Simultaneously, we examined the different ways of placing and stabilizing the content. We compared the traditional screen-fixed with world-fixed (augmented reality) and head-stabilized placement methods in terms of user satisfaction, understandability and safety. The gained knowledge about the locations that support information uptake and about the best ways of placing content was merged into a layout concept that subdivides the driver's view into several information areas. We also incorporated the drivers' preferences into this design process and compared their personalized layouts with our vision-based layout concept. We assessed the safety of both layout versions and present a revised concept.

We close this thesis by reflecting on other trends that may interrelate with the windshield display, namely autonomous driving and augmented reality consumer devices. We look at recent advancements in realizing windshield displays and endeavor a prediction of future developments in this area.

ZUSAMMENFASSUNG

Autofahrer konsumieren zunehmend mehr Informationen während der Fahrt. Diese Informationen werden über die fahrzeugeigenen Displays oder persönliche Geräte wie zum Beispiel Smartphones bezogen. Das Head-Up Display ist für die Aufnahme zusätzlicher, visueller Informationen während der Fahrt optimiert. Die Vorteile dieses Displays können jedoch aufgrund der limitierten Anzeige-fläche nur begrenzt ausgeschöpft werden. Die Automobilindustrie und Forschungsinstitutionen arbeiten daher an der Entwicklung des sogenannten *Windshield Displays*. Das Windshield Display wird eine großflächige oder gesamte Abdeckung des Blickfelds durch die Windschutzscheibe und potentiell auch 3D und damit Tiefeneindrücke ermöglichen. Neuere Head-Up Versionen nähern sich dem Ziel in kleinen Schritten und lassen eine Realisierung des Windshield Displays erhoffen. Die Erweiterung von der kleinen zweidimensionalen Anzeige-fläche zu einem großen dreidimensionalen Raum verlangt ein Überdenken des gesamten Anzeige- und Interaktionskonzepts. Das Windshield Display ermöglicht die Anzeige von neuen und mehr Informationen sowie neue Darstellungsarten die einer Erweiterung der Realität (*Augmented Reality*) nahekommen. Mit dieser Entwicklung erhöht sich jedoch auch das Risiko der Fahrerablenkung.

Diese Dissertation zentralisiert die grundlegende Frage ob die Erweiterung vom Head-Up zum Windshield Display hinsichtlich des Ablenkungsrisikos sinnvoll ist und präsentiert unsere Forschung über die damit einhergehenden Risiken und Chancen. Wir explorieren das Potenzial eines solchen Displays durch die Untersuchung des Einflusses verschiedener Displayfaktoren auf die Sicherheit sowie die Nutzerzufriedenheit.

Wir haben den Design Space abgesteckt und zeigen anhand dessen wie Displaygröße und -tiefe neue Designfaktoren erschaffen und mit bestehenden in Beziehung stehen. Die neuen Darstellungsmöglichkeiten legen ein Redesign der existierenden Funktionalität aber auch die Integration von neuen Inhalten nahe. Wir haben potentielle Inhalte für ein Windshield Display untersucht und Autofahrer nach ihren Bedürfnissen und persönlichen Präferenzen befragt. Dies resultierte in einer umfangreichen Liste von Use Cases und Anwendungen. Zudem haben wir uns mit der Platzierung dieser Inhalte innerhalb des möglichen Anzeigebereichs innerhalb der Windschutzscheibe befasst.

Um das Design sicherer Interfaces zu ermöglichen haben wir zuerst die visuelle Wahrnehmung des Fahrers innerhalb dieses Sichtbereichs untersucht. Dafür haben wir Positionen identifiziert welche die Informationsaufnahme begünstigen, insbesondere im peripheren Sichtbereich, und parallel die verschiedenen Arten der Informationsplatzierung und -stabilisierung untersucht. Wir verglichen die klassische Display-fixierte Anzeige mit der Welt-stabilisierten Platzierung (Augmented Reality) und der Kopf-stabilisierten Platzierung in Bezug auf Nutzerzufriedenheit, Verständlichkeit und Sicherheit. Das hierbei gewonnene Wissen über die vorteilhaftesten Positionen und Platzierungsstrategien wurde in einem Layoutkonzept zusammengeführt, welches den Sichtbereich des Fahrers in Informationsbereiche unterteilt. Die Wünsche und Bedürfnisse der Autofahrer hinsichtlich des Inhalts sowie dessen Platzierung wurden in diesen Designprozess einbezogen. Wir haben die Verteilung sowie die Sicherheit der persönlichen Layouts von Autofahrern mit unserem wahrnehmungsbasierten Layout verglichen und dieses daraufhin optimiert.

Abschließend diskutieren wir aktuelle Trends – insbesondere autonomes Fahren und Augmented Reality Konsumentenprodukte – und deren Bedeutung für das Windshield Display. Zudem reflektieren wir aktuelle Entwicklungsfortschritte und prognostizieren wie das zukünftige Windshield Display aussehen könnte.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

So many amazing people accompanied me during the last years. You taught me new perspectives and your encouragement and contagious passion kept me going. Thank you for being there for me in the good and bad times. The following acknowledgments are certainly not exhaustive and I apologize to everyone who I missed to mention.

Special thanks go to Andreas Butz. Thank you for being such a kind, fair, and understanding supervisor and especially for giving me so much freedom. You let me follow my interests and do things in my own way but also showed me my weaknesses and limits. I always admired how you manage to balance and fit work, life and sports and appreciate that you motivated me to do the same. Tobias Höllerer, thanks for welcoming me in Santa Barbara and for your close guidance, patience and support during my stay. It may have been stressful (due to my own fault) but I enjoyed it so much and learned a lot from you. Your calmness, your love for research and your motivation to contribute something that really influences and helps the world still inspires me. Many thanks go to my secondary and tertiary reviewers, Andrew Kun and Martin Baumann, for their effort, feedback, and patience. I also want to thank IAV and particularly Andreas Malik for offering me the possibility to pursue a doctoral degree and the support and understanding during my time there.

Thank you, Andreas, for providing me the possibility to finish my Ph.D. at the LMU Munich. Together with Heinrich Hußmann, Florian Alt, and Albrecht Schmid, you created a very friendly and supportive work environment. I particularly want to mention Hanna Schneider, Malin Eiband and Ceenu George, my Golden Girls. You brought so much fun into the daily working routine and always had valuable feedback and interesting points of view. I learned a lot from you, professionally as well as personally. Many thanks go to the rest of the team, Daniel Buschek, Sarah Völkel, Nadja Terzimehić, Florian Lachner, Daniel Ullrich, Mohamed Khamis, Bastian Pfleging, Mariam Hassib, Christian Mai, Christina Schneegaß, Sarah Aragon Bartsch, Axel Hösl, Tobias Seitz, and Maria Fysaraki. Through the years you evolved to my second family. Thank you for our laughter and discussions but also for helping me to sort out how this mysterious Ph.D. thing works. Last but not least I thank Franziska Schwamb and Rainer Fink for the funny time and their administrative help.

I also want to thank all of the students who I was privileged to supervise during their Bachelor's and Master's Thesis, and especially Susanne Forster, Laura Schnurr, Max von Bülow, Benjamin Fritzsche, Christopher Klaus, Yixin Shou, Katharina Vierheilig, Marcus Lang and Sven Osterwald. Without their contribution, this thesis would not exist.

My family is the most precious I have. I am really grateful for being surrounded by such loving, inspiring and supportive people. I cannot express how thankful I am to my parents, Emma and Hermann Häuslschmid. They always gave their best to make things possible for me. And they always stood behind me and ever will, which means a lot to me. I cannot thank my sisters, Petra, Andrea, Doris and Birgit, and my brother, Stephan, enough for teaching me the will to learn and improve, for encouraging me to step out of my comfort zone, for their honesty in every situation and for always believing in me. I particularly thank my sister and soulmate, Petra, who helps me to find the right perspective and who walks through life and its ups and downs always on my side. Without her, I wouldn't be the person I am today. Furthermore, I want to thank my friends for their understanding and for enduring my worst days as well as my team mates for literally fighting stress with me.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

RESEARCH SYNOPSIS

1	Introduction	1
2	Research Overview	3
2.1	Research Perspective & Methods	3
2.2	Research Approach & Questions	5
2.3	Main Research Contributions	7
3	Current Head-Up Displays	9
3.1	State of the Art Head-Up Displays	9
3.2	Safety Risks & Benefits	10
3.3	Objectives of Extending the HUD	10
4	From Head-Up to Windshield Displays	13
4.1	Design Space What design opportunities do HUDs and WSDs provide? (RQ 2)	13
4.2	Prototyping How can windshield displays be prototyped?	15
4.3	Display Content Which content could be presented on the windshield display? (RQ 1)	17
4.4	Information Perception Which windshield display locations support information uptake? (RQ 3)	20
4.5	Information Placement Strategies Which placement strategies are suitable for the windshield display? (RQ 5)	22
4.6	Information Layout At which windshield display locations should content be placed? (RQ 4)	26

5	Future Windshield Displays	33	
5.1	Interplay with other Trends	33	
5.2	Expected Display Characteristics (Size & Depth)	34	
5.3	Expected User Interface	34	
6	Conclusions	37	
List	of Publications & Own Contribution	40	
Bibli	Bibliography		
Term	ns & Abbreviations	55	

APPENDIX

[A] Prototype Variants and Test Environment	59
[B] Revised View Management Concept	62

Research Synopsis

1 INTRODUCTION

The task of *driving a car* requires the driver to continuously perceive the scene, understand the situation, decide which (re-)action is needed and to execute it [42]. Accordingly, supporting the drivers in one of these sub-tasks can increase their overall performance, which directly influences safety. Hence, car manufacturers have been developing systems that provide assistance or feedback for already more than 100 years (e.g., speedometer). These systems were proven helpful and increased road safety, however, they potentially bring along driver distraction. To optimize information uptake and to counter distraction, the classic dashboard display (head-down-display, HDD) was complemented with an additional readout placed close to the driver's center of attention. The so-called head-up display (HUDs) is reflected into the windshield and creates a semi-transparent image, which floats above the tip of the car's hood (see figure 1.1).

Head-up displays were introduced to the automotive domain in 1988 by General Motors [126]. Within the past 30 years, HUDs have evolved tremendously and are still subject of research and development. Technological advancements along with the advertised safety benefit promoted their popularity and sale. Developments in the consumer area are now pushing car manufacturers to keep up with recent trends: Particularly young users are permanently online and socially connected through their smartphones [71]. Augmented and virtual reality have only been commercially available for a short time but their integration into the car is already largely discussed [62]. Overall, people face and consume a growing amount of information. The same motivation causes people to use in-car and brought-in devices, such as smartphones, while driving. Reading on and interacting with small displays far away from the road scene can cause high levels of distraction from the driving task resulting in fatal accidents. Many countries passed laws against phone use while driving. However, these seem to be ineffective: Eight out of ten drivers between 16 and 20 years admit to break those laws [16]. 80% of all fatal accidents can be traced back to phone use, which underlines the need for new approaches [51]. One approach is to provide new, carefully examined, display space and interface concepts, which replace the less safe equivalents.

Researchers argue that 'the use of a HUD to display phone-related information is of particular importance' [120]. HUDs are safer than other in-car displays but limited in space (see section on *Risks & Benefits*). A HUD with an extended screen size and possibly multiple display layers at separate depths or even a continuous depth coverage (3D) – referred to as windshield display (WSD) – may provide the required display space (see figure 1.1). Content that is now provided on head-down displays, such as most info- and entertainment functions, but also the interface of smartphone applications could be rearranged and accessed on the WSD. A new design space emerges and opportunities for new content, interface and interaction approaches arise, such as augmented reality (AR).

Designers need to balance the opportunities against the risks of the new WSD interfaces and to consider the driver (e.g., abilities), the tasks (e.g., priority of driving) and the context (e.g., driving situation). This corresponds to a highly dynamic formation that is sensitive to influences from the outside, such as distractions caused by the WSD interface. Increased load and distraction induced by additional information are directly associated with a risk of safety and have to be kept to a minimum. Supportive information needs to be distinguished from superfluous content which emphasizes the need for a human-centered approach. This requires a true understanding of the drivers' desires and needs but also of their cognitive and sensory abilities and limitations in relation to the tasks at hand.

The driver's focus point is primarily targeted to the forward scene but wanders – partially consciously controlled – within the field of view [123]. Salient peripheral stimuli, no matter if real or artificial, have the power to draw attention – also unwillingly (see section on *Information Perception*). A wind-shield display will provide an extensive three-dimensional information space that merges with the road scene – both can be perceived and processed in small chunks within short subsequences but not simultaneously as they compete for the same, primarily visual, resources [80]. The road scene outranks the WSD content – yet, the comprehensive perceptibility of both is essential for safety and has to be guaranteed through appropriate interface design. Such an interface would require little cognitive and visual resources. As the human vision is neither constant nor consistent throughout the visual field it limits the ability to detect and recognize potentially safety-relevant information. Information uptake has to be promoted through appropriate design of the individual items (e.g., their size and appearance) as well as their layout. By choosing locations that reflect the relevance of the item's content, perceptibility should be balanced against distraction. The time and effort needed for context switches may further be lowered through spatial proximity and contentual relation – the key characteristics of augmented reality – however, its impact on the driver is not yet fully understood [41].

This thesis is concerned with the transition from a conventional head-up to a more futuristic windshield display. We define a new design space and recognize the extension of the display size and depth coverage as the key transitions. The newly spanned three-dimensional display space will accommodate diversified content and require new information placement approaches. Both are central research topics of this thesis. The thesis closes with forecasting what a future windshield display could look like.



Figure 1.1: The left image shows an exemplary head-up display of conventional size. It indicates the limited display space and content capacity. The right image visualizes a futuristic 3D windshield display. This mockup uses the entire windshield as display space and presents additional content to the driver.

2

RESEARCH OVERVIEW

This chapter gives a quick overview of the research described in this thesis. It explains how we look at windshield display research and approach it without knowing about the eventual construction and abilities of such a display. Furthermore, it narrates the story behind this thesis and explains how we came up with the questions that guided our research (RQs). Lastly, we summarize the main contributions of this thesis.

2.1 Research Perspective & Methods

The human aspects of human-computer-interaction (HCI) are based on psychological foundations. Yet, those foundations are theories with varying fidelity and validity. By iteratively controlling the input and measuring the output, researchers try to understand the *human* and find evidence that speaks in favor of or against those theories. This thesis is situated in the cross-field of automotive user interfaces which typically regards the human driver as a *user* and specifies the driving context. In manual driving, the car's interior is framed as the driver's workplace but increasingly regarded as a personal space that also needs to support tasks that go beyond manoeuvring the car. Additional systems are integrated into the car with the aim to simplify the drivers' *primary* duty of controlling the car or to satisfy personal needs. Such systems and the corresponding *secondary* driving-related and *tertiary* non-driving-related tasks [18] influence the drivers' performance and satisfaction. When dividing visual and cognitive resources to two or more tasks, one will experience a loss in the performance of each task (depending on the task difficulty [133]). The quantification of this loss is crucial as distraction and overload may lead to driving errors and delays in recognizing hazards, which put lives at risk.

Researchers try to evaluate such additional in-car systems and tasks with a combination of methods, such as user studies in a realistic simulation (applied research) [41]. Early-stage research is conducted exclusively in the laboratory to minimize the safety risks before road use is admissible. Real world studies have to be pursued in a later step. As part of this thesis, we conducted applied, human-centred research in laboratory settings only.

Research in the Absence of a Real Windshield Display The drivers' performance is relevant for the safety and the satisfaction strongly influences the acceptance of such a system. Accordingly, safety and acceptance are two major aspects researched in the field of automotive user interfaces. For both aspects, the validity of the results depends on the realism of the evaluated system and the test environment. Gish and Staplin [42] emphasize the importance of a HUD prototype that is as close to a real HUD as possible. However, the technological realization of the HUD does not scale to the entire windshield. At the time of the presented research, the eventual technological construction of the windshield display is unknown and still a challenge. Consequently, we cannot develop a

prototype that is comparable to a WSD. Instead, we developed various prototypes that support the goal of this thesis – the exploration of the extension from HUD to WSD. We utilized a prototype that is constructed similarly to a conventional HUD whenever a large single-layered display space was sufficient for the study. The results of those studies are meaningful and valid for the conventional HUDs (with the general limitations of driving simulator studies). However, to research depth or full-size windshield displays we needed to utilize 3D display technology.

When exploring the change from HUD to WSD, we need to look into both performance and satisfaction. However, we are aware that our results and particularly the performance measurements are of limited generalizability and that their relevance depends on the future WSD. While the major finding will presumably remain true, the extent of the alteration in performance or satisfaction will vary in (long-term) real world use. This problem exists for all novel concepts and preliminary systems and simply points at the need for iterative research cycles which are coordinated with the display development stage. In other words, we now explore various concepts to identify the ones that are valuable to be revisited in highly realistic safety studies once a WSD is available.

Study Design In driving simulator studies, a controlled simplification of driving serves as a baseline or control group. The intervention or test group is furthermore requested to explore an additional system or execute a specific task. This enables the assessing of the system's impacts on the *human* by quantifying the performance variations. This procedure is repeated for each of the test conditions and completed by all (within-subject) or a subset of the participants (between-subject) in a controlled, mostly counter-balanced order. We primarily applied within-subject designs as those allow a direct comparison of all conditions and provide, due to the common baseline, more meaningful results. We applied between-subject designs in two studies as a compromise between the number of testable conditions (WSD locations) and study duration.

Methods & Metrics In addition to a realistic HUD prototype, Gish and Staplin [42] recommend to create a realistic test environment, allow drivers to familiarize themselves with this environment and practice the tasks as well as to impose a varying but realistic workload. All of our user studies are carried out in a driving simulator. As the driving task as well as the information uptake require almost exclusively the visual channel [28], we aimed for setups that provide a visual experience similar to real driving. We ensured that the driving scene is placed accurately; meaning that the road's vanishing point matches the drivers' straight line of sight and that the windshield's retainer limits the field of regard on the driving scene realistically. Still, the simulator software is of limited visual realism and its tasks are simplified to increase controllability and generalizability. To increase visual realism, we also used driving footage and a complementary driving task instead of a simulated scene.

We always used a dual-task scenario and emphasized the priority of the driving task. For the driving we used the standardized lane change, car-following and ConTRe task or a free-riding task (see *Terms and Abbreviations*), similar to other researchers [34, 38, 54, 59]. Drivers were always introduced to the simulation environment and the tasks. They were further requested to practice the driving task before the actual study started. The secondary tasks were only practiced when we could preclude the risk of a study bias. As secondary task, we chose the detection-response task or a monitoring task, as also applied by other HUD researchers (e.g., [119, 137]). The detection-response task is highly controllable and provides solid metrics but regards exclusively the uptake of occurring information. The monitoring task is less controllable but allows for a more realistic and self-controlled information uptake strategy. The selection of the secondary task was based on the study's goals. We designed our

tasks to impose rather high workloads in order to expose even small differences between the systems or test conditions. In situations with lower workload this difference may be less pronounced.

In terms of the metrics and measurements, Gish and Staplin [42] recommend to log the driving performance, measure the response times to all tasks and to track the drivers' eyes. The driver's performance is primarily evaluated through objective and quantitative measurements such as telemetric data and response times but can be backed up with the drivers' (subjective) self reports, e.g., by means of a workload questionnaire. Questionnaires are also used to collect qualitative data that provides insights into the drivers' subjective opinion, satisfaction and acceptance of the experienced system or situation. We measured the drivers' performance through standard metrics such as the response time to events or the lateral deviation. When researching visual perception, we also often tracked the drivers' eyes. Qualitative data was collected through questionnaires which aimed at receiving the drivers' personal feedback and, if possible, to directly contrast the tested systems.

2.2 Research Approach & Questions

Industry and academia invest a lot of effort into extending the HUD's display size and depth range. Reflecting on the risks of in-car displays, we were concerned the danger may grow with the display's abilities. Repeatedly, we left discussions with one fundamental but open question:

Lead RQ: Is the extension of the head-up to the windshield display reasonable and desirable?

In other words, are there convincing arguments and use cases which justify the potential risk of distraction? As for the small-sized HUD, research showed that its benefits can outweigh the risks (see section on *Safety Risks & Benefits*), provided its interface is responsibly designed and used. Yet, considering the new display space and depth coverage, we wondered if there is content that (A) is worth of being presented to the drivers, (B) requires or profits from the extended display space and (C) potentially benefits from a separation in depth, or registration with the physical world. The first research step seemed obvious to us:

RQ 1: Which content could be presented on the windshield display?

In a first step, we analyzed HUD and WSD publications and patents for already existing applications and ideas. We further gathered insights into the drivers' interests by means of focus groups, brainstormings and an online survey. The online survey targeted content that is well-known from in-car displays and personal devices and its transfer to the WSD. The focus groups and brainstormings delivered numerous distinct use cases and application ideas and showed clearly how the participants' description of the content was tied to its design. The provision of new display space and (potentially) depth requires a rethinking of the conventional HUD interface and led to the question

RQ 2: What design opportunities do HUDs and WSDs provide?

Based on the extracted design approaches, ideas and principles, we developed a design space for HUDs and WSDs as a support for researchers and practitioners. With the application ideas and the design space at hand the drive for exploration grew. Driving is a safety- and time-critical task and so potentially distractive in-car applications have to be investigated in lab studies before the use on real roads can be considered. However, the technological realization of windshield displays is still subject of research itself. The need for self-developed prototypes was apparent and so we created a

variety of WSD prototypes to meet the needs of our studies. These setups target mainly the two key characteristics of WSDs; the *display size* and *depth coverage*. The WSD spans a large 3D space and provides new opportunities for the content and its design but also its placement. Content needs to be placed carefully to minimize driver distraction. For a safe placement we need to understand the driver's visual perception and particularly the recognition of information within this 3D space. As the perceptual abilities are not constant throughout the visual field, we asked ourselves

RQ 3: Which windshield display locations support information uptake?

We targeted this question in three lab studies. Two consecutive lab studies investigated the drivers' performance in responding to basic WSD stimuli and resulted in a model for legible stimuli sizes on a 2D WSD. The third study utilized a full-size 3D windshield display and additionally regarded the depth placement. Knowing about the drivers' perception and performance in information uptake, we can move one step further and identify the locations which enable high performance *and* do not interfere with the perception of the driving scene. We thereby approached the question

RQ 4: At which windshield display locations should content be placed?

For most of the previously identified content, such as a speedometer or a personal message, there is no natural location within a 3D space. Yet, its presentation on the windshield may be required due to personal preferences or safety benefits. The complexity of the problem drove us to approach this issue with an iterative and human-centered design process from two sides: We developed a layout concept (*view management*) that suggests windshield areas for the display of specific content. It connects our prior research about the drivers' perception with their content preferences. In two augmented virtuality studies and an online survey we concurrently asked drivers where they would like to see exemplary content and thereby gathered personalized layouts. Subsequently, we extracted patterns from the personalized layouts and derived recommendations for the placement on future WSDs. A revised version of the concept is provided in the *Appendix* [*B*] of this thesis.

Yet, there is a natural location for some information. Augmented reality suggests to provide digital information spatially close to the related real world object – which supports fast and easy understanding. Augmented reality is a key motivation for the extension of the HUD to the WSD. However, correct depth placement on conventional HUDs is not yet feasible and so the effects on the driver are not yet investigated and sufficiently understood. We therefore targeted the question

RQ 5: Which placement strategies are suitable for the windshield display?

We approached this question in three studies that compared the three major registration types regarding response performance and perception of the surroundings. We compared 2D-registered hazard warnings with the screen-fixed equivalent on conventional HUDs. The third user study contrasted a conventional dashboard display setup with a head-stabilized HUD for motorcyclists.

The presented topics and questions as well as how we approached them is explained in more depth in the chapter *From HUD to WSD*. The order of the presented research topics and questions is adapted for better understanding. A brief summary of our findings and answers to these questions is provided in the section on *Conclusions*.

2.3 Main Research Contributions

The research conducted as part of this thesis resulted in *conceptual, constructive*, or *empirical* contributions (based on the HCI problem classification from Oulasvirta and Hornbaek [91]). Conceptual contributions aim at identifying and explaining phenomena without previously known interrelations. We classify our literature reviews, concepts and models as conceptual contributions. Empirical contributions aim at creating and elaborating the explanations of those phenomena. We regard the results of our applied human-centered research such as user studies, surveys, focus groups and observations as empirical contributions. Constructive contributions aim at fostering understanding about a system and particularly its fundamental ideas and principles. This thesis' software and hardware prototypes fall into the category of constructive contributions.

Considered as a whole, this thesis presents three main contributions: a design space (*conceptual*), content and applications (*conceptual & empirical*) and our research about information placement (*conceptual & empirical*). Below, we briefly introduce these contributions and refer to the corresponding sections and publications.

Design Space The design space specifies the differences between HUDs and WSDs and outlines the design options for both. It comprised the areas of user, context, visualization, interaction and technology. We based the design space on literature, already displayed and potential information content and applications for all types of in-car window displays and the options and factors identified in a focus group. The design space is described in detail in section *Design Space* and the publication [P7].

Content & Applications We collected potential content and applications for HUDs and WSDs which is imaginable and desirable for drivers. We first gathered already existing content, ideas and applications from the literature and extended this list by means of focus groups and surveys. The results are presented in section *Information Content* and the publications [P1, P7].

Information Placement We contribute a layout concept and fundamental guidelines for placing information (*view management*) on a 3D windshield display. This concept was developed iteratively and builds upon several substantial contributions: The concept is founded on our and related studies about the drivers' visual perception. We contribute response time measurements for a large field of view and a model for legible stimuli sizes (see section on *Information Perception* and the publication [P5]). We furthermore compared different strategies for placing information on the WSD, namely world-fixed, head-fixed and particularly screen-fixed placement (see section on *Information Placement Strategies* and the publications [P2, P9]). We further contribute personalized information layouts of experienced car drivers and the assessment of fundamental patterns as well as their safety. These personalized layouts are considered in the suggested layout concept. We contribute a quantitative evaluation of both the drivers' personalized layouts and the suggested concept (see section on *Information Layout* and the publications [P1, P8]).

3

CURRENT HEAD-UP DISPLAYS

HUDs present primarily driving-related content with the goal to lower the distraction and effort of information uptake and thereby increase safety. The HUD is reflected into the windshield so that it appears like a transparent display that floats above the car's hood. To the driver the image seems to merge seamlessly with the driving scene. Below, we explain how such an image is technologically realized and which information it superimposes, explain the known positive and negative impacts on the driver and show why researchers aim to extend the HUD to a large 3D windshield display.

3.1 State of the Art Head-Up Displays

Technological Realization Conventional HUDs are based on the principle of light reflection. A 2D display or projection unit is positioned at an angle of $40-45^{\circ}$ to a transparent glass pane (*combiner*) which reflects the light and creates a virtual image visible to the observer. The observer perceives the virtual image in a distance that corresponds to the light path between eyes and combiner plus combiner and light source (source-to-eye distance) [42]. Optical elements such as mirrors and lenses can increase the light path's length and help keeping the dimensions of the entire optical setup low, which is restricted through the dashboard space. Thereby, also the size and distance of the generated image is limited [86]. Betancur and colleagues [8, 9] describe the construction of head-up displays and its challenges in more detail.

Image Dimensions The driver's field of view through the windshield measures about $67 \times 20^{\circ}$ [118, 131]. The HUD's image size measures approximately $6^{\circ} \times 2^{\circ}$ [6, 99]. It is restricted through the dashboard space and interrelates with the image distance: An extension of the image distance decreases the perceived image size and quality [42]. According to the examples of Langlois et al. [66], the image size increases linearly with the required dashboard space.

Image Location The HUD is positioned prominently, 5° below the driver's normal line of sight (when focusing straight ahead on the lead car or the vanishing point of the road). Several studies were carried out to identify the optimal HUD location based on the driver's information recognition (speed) and preferences (e.g. [120, 137]). However, researchers restricted the tested area to approximately $20^{\circ} \times 10^{\circ}$ around the driver's line of sight and thereby may have biased the findings. For example, many drivers place their navigation devices above the center stack and researchers found this location to foster high monitoring performance [65], but this location was initially excluded.

Image Distance The image floats in a distance of approximately 2–2.5 m, from the driver's eyes [6, 99]. This alleviates the eye accommodation when switching focus between display and world. Several studies have been devoted to the optimal viewing distance and concluded a distance between 2–3 m, which corresponds to the eyes' resting distance [41]. Inuzuka et al. [53] tested a

range of 1–5 m and showed that recognition times of older drivers increase when the stimuli is closer than 2.5 m. Like for the location, these studies often limited the range to few meters and participants did not have the opportunity to experience larger distances. Also car manufacturers and suppliers think that a larger distance is desirable, as next generation HUDs and concept cars show (see chapter on *Future Windshield Displays*).

HUD Content Head-up displays present primarily driving-related information. The content depends on the manufacturer and the car's features but may include speed, speed limit and other restrictions, vehicle status notifications such as remaining gas, headway warnings, cruise control and route guidance information [2, 6, 10]. Nowadays, the amount of non-driving-related content increases and may contain, for example, music control, phone book and calling functions.

External HUD devices such as the Navdy [84], Garmin [52] or Pioneer's NavGate HUD [97] are additional devices to place below the windshield. Similarly, the smartphone can be used as HUD by means of applications such as the HUDway [43] or the Navier HUD Navigation. These external HUDs are usually of a smaller size but can display more diverse content. The Navdy HUD seems to be the most comprehensive one and provides many smartphone related functions such as music control, messaging, phone call control and appointments.

3.2 Safety Risks & Benefits

The risks and benefits of HUDs are commonly studied by comparing it with an equivalent head-down display. Researchers found the HUD as superior in many aspects. Drivers can switch faster back and forth between the road and the display [58]. The HUD lowers the reaccommodation time [21] and demand. While this advantage is small for young drivers [129, 130], it alleviates the effort for elderly drivers [53]. Drivers can focus more on the road (increased eyes-on-the-road time) [50, 58, 73] and hence have an higher awareness of the surroundings [54]. This results in a faster recognition of road events as well as display content [50, 73]. Moreover, drivers maintain a more consistent speed [54, 74], feel less stress [74] and load [50] and overall safer [113]. Yet, the HUD's benefits seem to depend on the situational workload [67], the complexity and design of the HUD interface [89] and of course the image quality and perceptibility [42]. These benefits are expected to be even more pronounced for elderly drivers due to their reduced reaccommodation abilities and speed [42].

However, HUDs can also occlude or clutter the road scene [46], hamper the perception of size and distance of real world objects [107] and increase the reaction times of drivers who already have slow reactions [124]. It may furthermore cause drivers to change their visual behavior [20]. Distraction phenomena such as cognitive capture and attention tunneling (related to inattention and change blindness) are associated particularly with the HUD. All of these phenomena lead to the same problem: The drivers are focused on the HUD, neglect the road scene and miss out on critical events, without being aware of the reduced attention and resources for driving as their vision is still directed towards the road scene [37, 55, 75, 90, 116, 132].

3.3 Objectives of Extending the HUD

Compared to the alternative, the head-down displays, HUDs are superior in many aspects. Information uptake costs less effort and time, resulting in an increased safety for the driver and other road users. Furthermore, drivers almost always prefer the HUD over head-down displays (e.g., [117]). Consequently, to further lower risks associated with the use of other displays it is only reasonable to advance the HUD and exploit its benefits. Therefore, academia and industry aim to extend the display's field of view and depth coverage - striving for a large-sized 3D windshield display. Such WSDs could host a larger amount and variety of content and allow new ways of presentation such as augmented reality, yet, the safety of such interfaces needs to be verified first. Research shows promising results in terms of safety as well as user satisfaction: Drivers react faster [32, 74, 93, 104], spend more time monitoring the road scene [4, 58, 81], drive at a more consistent speed [74] and find it easier to detect and be aware of road hazards [60, 78]. AR has further increased situation awareness [86], supported driving performance without increasing the mental workload [81, 113], induced less divided attention and errors [60] and reduced driver distraction [32]. It may also diminish aggressive driving behaviors as it can reduce the isolation and anonymity of drivers by, e.g., displaying interests shared with other drivers close-by [82]. A naturalistic AR view is assumed to lower the visual clutter and the cognitive workload [79]. Most drivers stated to prefer the AR view over conventional display approaches [100, 113] as it is more intuitive, accurate, clear, informative, helpful, interesting and less distracting [60, 93, 100]. These benefits are even more pronounced for elderly drivers due to their lower cognitive and visual abilities [60, 78]. Yet, elderly drivers are also more prone to overload [121]. Negative (long-term) effects and risks of AR WSDs may be over-reliance, behavior change (misuse), overseeing or ignoring real-world cues and cognitive capture (though these are reduced for conformal AR) [41, 86].

AR WSDs are expected to increase safety also on real roads. Nevertheless, Gabbard et al. [41] point at the need for further research as the impacts of augmented reality on the driver and safety are '*still largely unknown or not fully understood*'.

4

FROM HEAD-UP TO WINDSHIELD DISPLAYS

This chapter positions our own research within related work. First, we outline the research field of windshield displays by means of the design space and briefly embed our own work within this context. Concurrently, we highlight the investigated subfields and point at the corresponding publications. In the following sections, we explain the relevance of these subfields more deeply and thereby motivate our research. We position our work within the specific related work and discuss the research approaches, methods and findings to derive future work.

4.1 Design Space

In HCI, design spaces are defined to provide an overview of a particular research field to new designers and researchers [83, 101] and a common basis for discussions [57, 83], to identify unknown aspects and underexplored directions [101] as well as new possibilities [24], implications and constraints [87], to help developing design variants and understanding their differences [24, 35], strengths and limitations [76] and to eventually classify systems within the framework [87]. As design spaces are defined for specific domains with individual goals, they also vary in form, dimensionality and structure.

Our design space is based on a literature review on head-up and windshield display applications of any development stage with particular focus on content and visualization. Similar to Rasmussen et al. [101] and Kern et al. [57], we performed a structured search and selection process to gather a fundamental set of publications of the field. We extended the resulting list by means of brainstormings and focus groups as explained below. The process of tagging, sorting and eliminating redundant findings showed that the fundamental idea was often tied to a particular user and scenario (context), visualization or interaction aspect. Their diversity and the requirement of different HUD and WSD characteristics motivated us to collect and structure those aspects in one design space (see figure 4.1).

Again, we distinguish the WSD from the HUD primarily through the extended coverage of the driver's field of regard (display size) and potentially the depth (3D). We identified the key differences but also the potentials for fluent transitions from the HUD to the WSD interface. The design space shows how these key differences create new or interrelate with existing design factors and thereby answers the question *what design opportunities do HUDs and WSDs provide? (RQ 2).* Descriptions of all factors, supported by exemplary related work, are provided in the publication [P7]. Below, we embed our research in the design space and explain which *factors* we investigated. Figure 4.1 highlights the investigated (blue color) and broached (light blue pattern) aspects (cells).

User We considered the driver as single *user*, *observer* and *actor* in all studies. Yet, we propose the use of the windshield as public display and portray one exemplary use case for passers-by [P7].

	User Mode*	Single User				Multi	User	
lser	Observer	Driver	Co-Driver / F		Passengers	ngers Road Users / Passers-by		
	Actor(*)	Driver	Co-Driver / Passengers		Road Users & Passers-by		Nobody	
	Application Purpose	Safety	Navigation & geo IS		Vehicle Mor	nitoring	Entertainment	
t	Information Context	Environment		Vehicle	Perso	n	Time	
ontex	Driving Mode*	Driving	Driving Wai		iting Parking		Parking	
ŭ	Level of Automation	Manual	Manual Semi-aut		utomated		Autonomous	
	Privacy*	Public	Public Pers		sonal		Private	
	Level of Augmentation	Reality & loose Information	formation Augmenter		ed Reality	Virtual Reality		
ation	Registration*	Unregistered	20) registered	3D regist	ered	Gaze-dependent	
aliza	Field of View Position	Foveal Cent		ntral	Peripheral / Ambient			
Visu	Presentation	Symbolic		Naturalistic				
	Graphic Design Factors	Color	Color Transparency		Size		Motion	
r F	Input Modality	Touch & Controls	Gestures Ga		aze	Speech	Behaviour	
Inte acti	Multimodal Feedback	Visual	Haptic/ Tactile		Audti	ory	Olfactory	
logy	Image Generation	Image reflected in windshield				Image on v	vindshield	
	Size*	HUD (rather small)			WSD (rather large)			
ç	Depth*	Single-layer (2D)	ayer (2D) Multi		-layer		Continuous (3D)	
₽	Display Factors	Color depth	Tr	ansparency	Brightne	ss	Resolution	
_	*	t						

Figure 4.1: The design space shows factors that need to be considered when designing interfaces for the HUD or a WSD (see publication [P7] for detailed explanations). The research presented in this thesis focused on the factors and dimensions with blue background color. Cells with light blue pattern are broached in at least one study as side aspect. White cells are not explicitly researched.

Context We collected use cases, content and applications for the future windshield display and categorized those according to the *application purpose* [P7]. We developed and tested prototypes with a safety [P9], entertainment [P10] and monitoring [P2, P6] purpose. Additionally, the *application purpose* and the *information context* are incorporated in the view management concept [P1, P8]. We focused on the *mode* driving, however, most presented applications and concepts are also applicable to waiting and parking cars. Accordingly, we investigated primarily the manual *level of automation*. We outlooked on autonomous cars and suggested the HUD for the presentation of trust-supporting visualizations [P6]. As for the *privacy*, we consider and present content that is public, personal and private but did not examine one particular option.

Visualization The *level of augmentation* (later also called *stabilization*) was broached as a side aspect in many user studies (e.g., [P2, P10]), particularly the amplification of the reality with loose, detached information. We addressed augmented reality explicitly in [P1, P8, P9]. We used virtual reality to prototype 3D windshield displays but did not consider its use in the car. We researched the *registration* along with the *level of augmentation*. Unregistered content is a static placement (like loose, screen-fixed information) and is broached in every study as we regard it as the default placement option. It is explicitly examined when the conventional head-up and head-down displays served as a baseline for comparisons against 2D registration [P9] and head-stabilization [P2]. Also the view management concept looks into the different types of registration as well as *field of view positions* [P1, P8]. The field of view and the detection and response to stimuli at particular positions are often broached as side aspect to discuss and justify content placements [P1, P9]. We particularly addressed this topic in two studies about the location-specific response performance and stimuli sizes for large head-up displays [P5]. The *presentation* of content is symbolic in all studies. Apart of the *size* [P5] we did not examine any *graphic design factor*.

Interaction Interaction with the windshield display is not in the scope of this thesis. We conducted one study that compared *input modalities* for the superimposition of information on demand [P3]. As we focus on the windshield display as a visual output device, we researched the visual *feedback modality* only.

Technology The technology is part of our HCI design space as it interrelates with other aspects, for example, who can see the display (observer) or the possibility of registration. The realization of windshield displays is not part of this thesis's scope but considered for the development of prototypes. We *generated the image* behind the windshield (or combiner) in all studies and compared it with the display of the image on the windshield itself [P10]. The image *size* is regarded as a key factor that differentiates head-up and windshield displays and is therefore pronounced in all studies. We mostly targeted the larger windshield display and used the small head-up display in case of size limitations [P2, P6] or as a baseline [P9]. The display's depth coverage is another potential key feature but also a technological challenge of windshield displays. In most studies we investigated WSDs with a single layer. Multiple layers and continuous depth are examined in the view management concept [P1, P8]. We did not look into the *display factors* (see figure 4.1) as these depend highly on the eventual technological realization of a WSD.

4.2 Prototyping

For externally valid research on the HUD's safety, Gish et al. [42] impose the following requirements for the study prototypes: The image has to be visible through an optical (see-through) combiner to both eyes. It must be separated from the driving scene and displayed in a distance above 2.5 m. Furthermore, they require the setup to be integrable into a car, presumably, for follow-up real world studies. We overall agree with Gish et al. but as they are setting high expectations, we found that even fundamental HUD research rarely met these requirements. We also think they are not fully suitable for prototypes made to research the transition from HUD to WSD. As explained earlier, the technological realization of HUDs does hardly scale to the entire windshield (see section on *Technological Realization*) and so it is questionable if the WSD will be realized like a conventional HUD. Consequently, neither the WSD's coverage of the drivers' entire field of view nor the provision of 3D is guaranteed. We think it is worth to explore displays with varying coverage and applied as part of this thesis are situated between HUD and WSD (see figure 4.2). We are aware of the limitations of research utilizing prototypes that differ from the eventual display technology. However, without them we cannot start exploring such displays.

Gish et al. defined a categorization for HUD prototypes which suggests five setup types [42]: graphic HUD, projected HUD, binocular mirrored HUD, partial overlap mirrored HUD and monocular mirrored HUD. Since this HUD meta-review was published (in 1995), new prototyping possibilities appeared which motivated us to update their categorization (see table 4.1): Firstly, we will refer to WSDs instead of HUDs. The category *graphic WSD* remains as suggested. We extend the category *projected WSD* to gather all prototypes with projector-based image generation and omit the aspect of distance equality. Also the category of *binocular mirrored WSDs* remains unchanged, however, we emphasize that it includes both 2D and 3D variants. As we are not aware of a recent implementation of a *monocular mirrored WSD* (reflected image is visible to one eye only) nor of a *partial overlap mirrored WSD* (each eye perceives one half of the image) for drivers, we omit these variants. Fur-

thermore, we add *see-through* and *non-see-through head-mounted displays* and *augmented virtuality* (*AV*) *simulations* to the categorization. The head-mounted displays (HMDs) and AV simulators are needed to fully study 3D WSDs as they enable an immersive experience and exploration of all depth ranges and sizes. Below, we briefly describe the image generation of the suggested categories as well as their advantages and disadvantages. They are explained more deeply in the *Appendix* [*A*] of this thesis. Furthermore, exemplary prototypes from related research are quoted and opposed to the prototypes which we developed and applied in our research.

Prototype	Description	Advantages (+) and Disadvantages (-)	
Graphic WSD*	2D WSD image and driving scene are displayed through the same technology (usually a large display) and hence at the same distance	 (+) easy to realize and low-cost (-) no studies about oculomotor mechanisms (vergence & accommodation) 	
Projected WSD*	2D WSD image is displayed through a projector on the windshield, screen or wall	 (+) easy to realize and low-cost (-) often a slanted image and low distance (-) no studies about oculomotor mechanisms 	
Mirrored WSD*	2D or 3D WSD image reflected into the windshield; driving scene and image are typically at separated depths	 (+) similar to conventional HUDs (+) enables studying oculomotor mechanisms (-) compromise between image distance and setup size / complexity 	
See-through HMD (AR glasses)	Head-worn device presents the WSD image as a transparent overlay to the real world (head-stabilized by default); monocular, binocular, 2D and 3D versions possible	 (+) enables research about 3D, depth and oculomotor mechanisms (+) usable in real cars (-) tedious realization of (conventional) car-stabilized content (-) often a small visual field (no periphery) 	
Non-see-through HMD (VR glasses)	Head-worn device presents both 3D WSD image and driving scene (immersive simulation)	 (+) enables research about 3D and depth (-) no perception of self and surroundings (-) limited studies about oculomotor mechanisms 	
AV Simulation	3D WSD image and driving scene are displayed through a large projection system (immersive simulation)	 (+) enables research about 3D and depth (+) perception of self and surroundings (-) limited studies about oculomotor mechanisms 	

Table 4.1: Variants of windshield display prototypes that we developed and applied in our user studies. Variants marked with an asterisk (*) are based on the categorization from Gish et al. [42], the remaining ones are contributed by us.

These prototypes facilitate researching variations of the two key differences, size and depth. In studies that focused on vision and safety, we applied setups that are similar to the conventional HUD, potentially with a larger size and unless depth perception was required. To research the depth aspect, a 3D-capable prototype was required. Below, we explain the prototype that we found to provide the best opportunity to study and experience full-size 3D WSDs, *AV simulations*, more deeply. **Augmented Virtuality Simulations** are often wall-projections that cover the entire FoV or even surround the user like in situation rooms (such as the CAVE or the AlloSphere). These simulators are highly complex to develop and costly. But as they present a 3D virtual world with sound depth perception, they enable a realistic experience of the look and feel of a full-size 3D windshield display. In contrast to the more common VR glasses, drivers can perceive themselves as well as the the car mockup and are relieved from the (heavy) VR glasses. The situation rooms also feature a higher focal distance (which comes closer to driving) but the user may still suffer from a vergence and accommodation conflict. Due to their complexity and costs, AV simulators such as the CAVE are rarely applied for driving simulations (for example, [56, 66, 72]). We used the AlloSphere, a near-to-spherical situation room, for our research about 3D information layouts [P1]. Both a real driving scene and the augmenting WSD content are displayed through the projection system and framed by a car mockup to obtain an immersive, realistic experience (see (4) in figure 4.2).



Figure 4.2: Exemplary prototypes which we utilized in our user studies. The images show the following prototype variants: (1), (2) and (7) mirrored WSDs, (3) graphic WSD, (4) AV simulation, (5) see-through HMD, (6) projected WSD.

4.3 Display Content

In-car displays, particularly the central information display (CID), present a large amount and variety of information to the drivers (see [117] for examples). Head-up displays present primarily driving-related information. Drivers also often use their smartphones to access driving-related but also unrelated content while driving (see [P4] for details). However, more than 80% of all accidents are associated with this behavior [16, 51]. An extended display space could host a larger amount and variety of information. The HUD's safety benefits, such as the enhanced information uptake, suggest to transfer content from other, less safe in-car displays or brought-in devices, such as the smartphone, onto the WSD, as also suggested by other researchers [120]. But badly placed and excessive amounts of information can attract the driver's attention, clutter the view and hamper the perception of the road scene, which results in a distracted driver [41, 42, 95]. Consequently, superfluous content has to be avoided also on the windshield display? (*RQ 1*) and more specifically *which of the potential content do drivers actually want to see on their own display*?.

Overview of Related Research Researchers started to explore the content drivers could imagine or want to see on their windshield. For example, Boström et al. [15] identified a variety of potential HUD information by means of brainstormings, interviews and focus groups. Park et al. [94] studied gender-specific content preferences. Tretten [117] asked drivers in an online survey which driving-related and non-related content they would like to perceive at which in-car display. He also let drivers experience a HUD in their own car to later interview them about their content preferences.

Table 4.2 summarizes the results of these studies and shows that drivers are mainly interested in driving-related content [15, 94, 117]. Many drivers use their smartphone while driving and other researchers showed that they expect the in-car displays to host this content in thefuture [47]. Yet, these studies found drivers to be reluctant to select such content [15, 117]. The participants of Boström et al. [15] were strictly against mirroring the smartphone on the HUD as they were concerned about information overflow and disturbance as well as the HUD's spatial limitations. Rao et al. [100] also mentioned that their participants were concerned about information overflow and superfluous content (after experiencing an AR HUD). Similarly, Tretten [117] assumes that his participants selected items which are monitored and responded to quickly because they impose low cognitive workload and are well-practiced – which generally excludes all novel (and non-driving-related) content.

Research Need However, in these studies participants could often only choose from the provided set of information and did not have the opportunity to contribute own ideas and add the desired items (e.g., non-driving-related content). Furthermore, they focused on the small HUD and did not consider a windshield display. Given the larger and 3D space, it is questionable whether participants would like to perceive the same variety of information.

Table 4.2: Content that drivers would like to see on their personal windshield display (minimum 5%). Drivers are primarily interested in driving-related content. They have diverging opinions regarding non-driving-related content but it seems that the desire for such content is growing.

Häuslschmid	l et al. [P1]	Park et al. [94]	Tretten [117]
<i>Survey:</i> navigation (81%) fuel & battery (68%) head way (52%) traffic&street sign (52%) music control (50%) phone calls (47%) vehicle status (40%) music selection (42%) messages (31%) economy drive (26%)	Post-Study Questionnaire: navigation (100%) speed (100%) road hazards (96%) car status (96%) time & date (87%) headway (78%) POIs (78%) calls (74%) entertainment (74%)	<i>User Study:</i> navigation (100%) speed (95%) traffic info. (50%) vehicle info. (30%) messages (20%) lane change (15%) headway (10%) time (5%)	Survey: road image (48%) sport shift (48%) speeding (45%) park support (43%) lane changes (41%) On-road Study: warnings (43%) navigation (35%) traffic info (25%)
POIs (19%) garage opener (18%) public transport (11%) inter-driver comm. (10%) work & tasks (8%)	appointment (74%) messages (70%) weather (61%)		speed limits (18%) speedometer (15%) other driving-related content (13%) multimedia (13%) speed only (10%)

Our Research Contribution We researched the potential and desired content for windshield displays in a three step process: At first, we searched HUD and WSD literature and patents for use cases, features, application ideas and particular content suggestions [P7]. Next, we extended this list by means of brainstorming sessions and focus groups in which we asked drivers about the content they regard as useful and desirable [P7] (similar to Boström et al. [15]). We obtained a set of 211 individual ideas, use cases, applications and features. Lastly, we conducted an online survey about the information drivers access on the smartphone while driving and the content they want to perceive on their personal WSD [P1] (similar to Tretten's online survey [117]).

Table 4.2 presents the content our drivers would like to perceive on their personal HUDs. We further found that most of our participants limited the WSD to approximately six items [P1, P7], which might be related to the concerns about information overflow as mentioned in related research. Our drivers also consistently prioritized driving-related content, which is in line with prior research, but they did choose more non-driving-related content. In this regard, the survey showed a strong division of the respondents: Some of our drivers stated that they do not want to be exposed to non-driving-related content, particularly social media and messages, while driving. Other participants requested the display of smartphone content and all of its notifications on their WSD explicitly [P1].

Conclusions & Future Work Related as well as our own research showed that drivers can imagine a large variety of content for the windshield display. However, when imagining the content of their personal display, the preferences in regard of amount and type differ strongly between individuals, user or consumer groups [61], cultures [117] and potentially even between genders [94]. Overall, drivers consistently prioritized driving-related content. Compared to the findings of related work, our participants desired more non-driving-related content [15, 117] but they were also given the full windshield area for information display (instead of a small HUD) which diminished the space limitations that some of the drivers mentioned [15]. Furthermore, they were not limited to a pre-defined set of (mostly driving-related) content. Through the years, the smartphone became indispensable for the young drivers and the desire to be always online and connected grew, causing its use while driving.

Today, drivers are used to adjust their devices such as the smartphone to meet their personal requirements [106]. They seem to expect their cars to become personalizable [115] and to host smartphone content [47]. Nevertheless, drivers are concerned about information overflow and avoid content which is not interesting for them or relevant for driving [100, 117]. Accordingly, superfluous information has to be avoided to keep distraction at a minimum. This points at the need for personalization of the WSD content. Although Gish et al. [42] identified this need already more than 20 years ago and other researchers confirmed it (e.g., Tractinsky et al. [115]), personalization of in-car displays is still at an early stage and limited to head-down-displays. We expect that letting drivers configure the content of their windshield displays – within safety boundaries – could enhance user satisfaction and possibly also safety. The WSD interface may provide a set of pre-defined and safely designed items from which the driver can choose (a limited amount). This item set might incorporate the drivers' desires summarized in table 4.2. Whether or which non-driving-related content should be provided is still to be researched. So far, too little research (e.g., [26, 127], [P10]) has been carried out to investigate its impacts on the driver. As we do not know yet how intensively drivers would engage in reading such content, more research is needed to get a deeper understanding of potential safety impacts.

4.4 Information Perception

The HUD is placed close to the driver's regular line of sight as this location is favored by the drivers and promotes fast information uptake [120, 137]. Immediate recognition enables fast reactions (corresponding to high response performance) and are hence highly important, particularly for safety-relevant information. The widely-accepted and applied SEEV model suggests that the probability of the driver shifting his or her attention to a particular object depends on the *salience* of the object (visual conspicuity, e.g., contrast or motion), the physical and mental *effort* to visually focus on the object (depends largely on its location and eccentricity, respectively), the *expectancy* of changes at a specific location (depends on the frequency of changes) and the *value* as drivers generally seek relevant information (depends on the relevance of the object's location) [39, 133]. As the model shows, the uptake of a stimulus (simple graphical item) at a specific location depends largely on its location. The extension from HUD to WSD is motivated by the opportunity to place information across the entire windshield. For a safe information placement, we need to consult the drivers' response performance at the contemplated locations. This need motivated us to identify *which windshield display locations promote fast responses? (RQ 3)*.

Overview of Related Research Table 4.3 provides a quick overview of relevant research about the drivers' response performance at specific locations in the windshield area. It contrasts factors such as the stimuli, display prototypes, tasks, fields of view and chosen locations of related research to our own work. These studies showed that the drivers' response times are lowest within an area of 5° around the line of sight, with a slight advantage of positions below and to the right of the center (e.g., [120, 134, 137]). Outside of the central area the response performance seems to deteriorate consistently towards higher angles (within a FoV of $20^{\circ} \times 10^{\circ}$ centered around the line of sight) [110]. The studies of Lamble et al. [65] and Wittmann et al. [134] suggest that the visual field has an elliptical shape and deteriorates slower in the horizontal direction. However, the degree of the performance loss is still vague due to the large number of influencing factors and a deficiency of comparable and systematic measurements at peripheral positions (while driving).

Research Need Drivers can react within less than one second – which points at the need to control the influencing factors in order to obtain precise response time measurements. As table 4.3 shows, the related studies differ greatly in all of the mentioned factors. For example, the design and overall size of the stimuli influence their saliency and in turn how (fast) it attracts the driver's attention [33, 42, 44, 108]. The images of the applied prototypes and driving simulators differ, for example, in quality and distance. As explained earlier, this influences the driver's perception and particularly the oculomotor mechanics as well as the response times. It has to be noted that neither of these setups fulfills the requirements for HUD vision research from Gish et al. [42]. Also the applied tasks, their simulated attention allocation strategies and so the visuomotor behavior vary considerably [134] which makes the performances in both primary and secondary tasks incomparable across the studies.¹ Most problematically for the WSD, the drivers' response performance was not investigated systematically across the entire windshield area (a homogenous set of locations), as also pointed out by Tsimhoni et al. [120]. Only few specific locations have been investigated thoroughly (see table 4.3).

¹ The detection-response task places the primary task (driving) in focus of visual attention and simple stimuli have to be detected as secondary task. The monitoring task forces the driver to visually attend to the HUD and leaves the complex driving task to be executed with peripheral vision. The first scenario happens presumably more often in real driving but the strength of the second scenario is that it provides insights into the impact of reading information from particular locations on the driving performance. The two scenarios require a considerably different visuomotor behavior [134].
We are not aware of a user study that provides systematic and comparable measurements within the peripheral FoV or even better across the entire windshield. Vision research looks into these areas, however, in completely different settings, which are not (directly) transferable to the driving situation (e.g., [33, 44]).

The differences in the single factors can have strong influences on the results which raises the question if the findings of the quoted studies are generalizable. Furthermore, they tested rather small fields of view so we can barely draw conclusions about the information perception in the periphery. Based on these studies, we cannot overall assess the driver's location-specific perception and in turn design a well-informed and safe WSD interface.

Our Research Contribution To gain deeper insights into the drivers' information perception across the windshield, we performed two consecutive user studies with a medium-size, mirrored WSD. This study tested 17 positions within an extended visual field of $35^{\circ} \times 15^{\circ}$ [P5]. In addition to the response times, this study delivered small, well-legible stimuli sizes which we interpolated to a model for sizing recommendations. We furthermore conducted one user study with a full-size 3D WSD in an AV simulator [P1] which tested a set of 48 positions across the entire windshield and a depth range of 19.1 m.

Our response time measurements are overall in line with the findings of prior work: We found the fastest responses at the locations 5° to right and above the center [P1, P5]. The response performance declined in an elliptical shape. The response times increased towards higher angles, comparing the three fields of $0-5^{\circ}$, $5-15^{\circ}$ and $15-25^{\circ}$ [P5]. The detriment of locations above approximately 15° is also apparent in our study about the detection of road hazards (moving stimuli) [P9]. Our AV simulation study showed a correlation between response time and eccentricity. It furthermore showed a considerable decrease in response rate towards higher angles, which could correspond to a very slow response time when drivers are given more time [P1]. More details can be found in the corresponding publications [P1, P5]. Comparing the location-specific response performances of our three studies, the results are surprisingly consistent, suggesting high validity.

Conclusions & Future Work The response times (and the derived sizing model) are important for the design of safe WSD interfaces. To minimize distraction, information needs to be displayed in legible sizes and at well-perceptible locations. However, many factors such as the drivers' characteristics (e.g., age [108]), the situation (e.g., demand [135]), the display (e.g., brightness [42]) and the stimuli (e.g., contrast [108]) influence the drivers' perception of WSD stimuli and complicate the provision of the basic values.

Based on the existing studies we cannot draw precise conclusions about the drivers' response performance. Our three studies systematically tested a large set of locations and extended visual fields and thereby provide comparable measurements, also at larger angles. The results of our studies are overall consistent and in line with prior research. Within the tested area of $20^{\circ} \times 10^{\circ}$, the response times measured by Tsimhoni et al. [120] are comparable to ours. The participants from Yoo et al. [137] reacted overall faster although these two studies are very similar, which again shows the influence of the study factors.

Our studies indicated that the drivers' response performance decreases at an angle around 15° . This might be caused by the increased effort, as the SEEV model suggests, but could also be related to the biological structure of the eye (rod and cone cells) as well as the drivers' visuomotor mechanics [103]: Drivers fixate stimuli at an angle below 15° through eye movements and beyond through

head rotations. The delay and lower speed of head motions suggest faster switching times (and in turn faster responses) below 15° and, consequently, to place the WSD content inside of this field. However, drivers do not mandatorily have to fixate a stimulus for recognition, provided it is large enough [109]. But it is still unclear whether drivers recognize stimuli through fixation or peripheral vision and if this is consciously controlled [70, 102]. The drivers' visual behavior and reflexes are related to the distraction mechanisms (see publication [P4]) and relevant for the interface design: For example, a peripheral (AR) stimulus might be related to a crossing pedestrian (hazard) or a point of interest (non-hazard). The annotation may draw the driver's attention and gaze (this might depend on the stimulus' recognizability with peripheral vision) away from the driving task which could be beneficial for safety in the first example but dangerous in the second one; the driver's consciousness of this behavior plays an important role as a controlled attention shift allows the driver to decide whether the situation allows for it, while an unconscious shift happens independently of the situation. Hence, more in-depth eve-tracking studies are needed to understand the drivers' visual behavior and reflexes. Furthermore, future research needs to examine the influence of the above mentioned factors as well as depth systematically to obtain performance and size estimations which facilitate the design of safe interfaces which are suitable for all drivers and situations.

Table 4.3: Overview of studies that measured the drivers' response performance at particular locations. The column *locations* describes the count of WSD positions and the FoV. Studies marked with (*) investigated diverse positions within the car's interior. The relevant locations refer to the HUD (5°), above the dashboard (4°, 6°), above the center stack (17°, 24°) and the rear view mirror (27°, 42°, values are approximations). The column *tasks* refers to the primary (1) and secondary task (2).

Researchers	Ν	Stimuli	Locations	HUD	Tasks
Tsimhoni et al. [120]	16	names	8: $20^{\circ} \times 10^{\circ}$	mirrored WSD	 driving curvy roads detection-response task
Yoo et al. [137]	24	triangle	15: $20^{\circ} \times 10^{\circ}$	mirrored WSD	 detect events in videos detection-response task
Wittmann et al. [134]	30	bar & number	4*: 5°, 6°, 17°, 27°	projected WSD	 lane positioning monitor and react to display
Lamble et al. [65]	12	braking lead car	5*: 0°, 4°, 17°, 24°, 42°	LED display	 similar to car-following task (detect decelerating car) monitor and react to display
Häuslschmid et al. [P5] (2 studies)	24, 22	shapes, names	17: $35^{\circ} \times 15^{\circ}$	mirrored WSD	 lane change task detection-response tasks
Häuslschmid et al. [P1]	12	shapes	$48: 63^{\circ} \times 23^{\circ}$	VR room	 ConTRe task detection-response task

4.5 Information Placement Strategies

Current HUDs are restricted to display few pieces of information inside a small 2D area (*screen-fixed placement*). Although no suitable commercial products are available [41], car manufacturers and suppliers already advertise with augmented reality HUDs. AR is one key motivation for the extension of the HUD. However, the annotation of the driver's view with digital information (*registered*)

placement) is only reasonable for content that is actually related to an object in the real world. Since some of the most important functions such as the speedometer do not suggest a registered placement, the classic screen-fixed placement will not become obsolete but needs to be combined with other placement strategies. In this thesis we differentiate three major strategies for information placement:

- Augmented reality *world-stabilized* content suggests to superimpose information spatially registered (in three dimensions) to the related real world object and to thereby extend their world [3]. Other common terms for this placement strategy are *registered*, *world-fixed* and *contact-analog* or *conformal*, though, the latter two require a naturalistic presentation (instead of a symbolic design) [41, 114].
- (2) The content of the classic in-car displays and the conventional HUD is *car-stabilized* as it is displayed on a defined screen which is positioned at a fixed location within the car's interior and dissociated from the real world (also known as *screen-fixed*) [41].
- (3) The *head-stabilized* placement refers to the fixation of content at one location within the user's FoV [68]. Accordingly, the content moves along the driver's head. Similarly, content can be stabilized to the user's eye gaze or other body parts.

Although researchers have highlighted its necessity [41, 42, 114, 128], it appears that a comprehensive placement approach for the extension from HUD to WSD has not been researched, yet. To thoroughly approach this problem, we first look into the different placement strategies to answer the question *which placement strategies are suitable for the windshield display? (RQ 5).* We then combine the suitable strategies in a comprehensive view management approach (see section on *Information Placement*).

4.5.1 World-fixed versus Screen-fixed Placement

While certainly not all content is related to the outside world and hence suggests an AR placement, all information could be displayed inside a defined display area which is dissociated from the driving scene (as current HUDs do). Yet, academia and industry research intensively on augmented reality for drivers as both safety and sale benefits are expected. Research showed that world-fixed content can have various benefits for the driver compared to screen-fixed or no display support (see section on *Objectives of Extending the HUD*). Nevertheless, Gabbard et al. [41] emphasize the need for further investigation as 'the effects of AR information on driving performance, safety and mental workload are still largely unknown or not fully understood'.

Most AR studies examine applications that are designed to support the driver, for example, in navigation [4], lane keeping [25], head way control [27] and perception of the surroundings (e.g., hazard detection [59, 98] and POIs [14]). Most of these applications make use of the central windshield area only. As we are interested in the transition from HUD to WSD and its size and coverage of the peripheral FoV is a new feature, we focused on the drivers' perception of the surroundings with special attention to the periphery. In particular, we studied the support of registered and screen-fixed annotations in detecting hazards [P9]. **Overview of Related Research** Hazard Warnings are studied, for example, by Charissis and colleagues. In low visibility scenarios, the drivers had to avoid collisions with the lead car. Charissis [25] presented cues for lane boundaries, lead and neighbouring cars and traffic congestions and showed that drivers caused 75% less crashes and maintained a larger headway. Traffic congestion and sharp turn warnings resulted in a crash reduction of 32.5% [27]. However, it is difficult to assess the meaning and validity of their findings as most of the reported results represent one participant only. With an equivalent goal, Kim et al. [59] and Pomarjanschi et al. [98] displayed registered pedestrian warnings on a HUD and compared it to the driver's performance without display support. Kim et al. [59] additionally tested screen-fixed warnings and showed that both HUDs improved the driver's performance but the AR-like version led to a smoother braking behavior than the conventional HUD. Pomarjanschi et al. [98] found that the mark up reduced the eye movements, reaction times and collisions, resulting in safer driving.

Research Need These studies indicate that world-fixed content is superior to screen-fixed information, however, they focused exclusively on the area directly in front of the driver. Researchers have diverging opinions about the required size of the AR FoV: Ng-Thow-Hing and collegues [86] argued that AR is not needed across the entire windshield as peripheral annotations will move out of the windshield area fast and leave little time to react to it, which would make them superfluous. Bark et al. [4] and Langlois et al. [66] proposed a FoV similar to the human eye but at least $20^{\circ} \times 10^{\circ}$. Gabbard et al. [41] suggested that an AR WSD should cover the entire FoV.

Our Research Contribution We compared 2D-registered hazard warnings within a horizontal range of 35° (WSD in 2 m) with conventional screen-fixed warnings (HUD in 2 m) and with the driver's (unsupported) detection of hazards [P9]. Primarily, drivers had to follow a lead car with constant head way (car-following task). Additionally, they had to detect soccer balls that were rolling towards (hazard) or away from the own lane (non-hazard) and to respond with button presses, similar to a detection-response task. We could not prove a faster reaction to augmented hazards than for the screen-fixed support but confirmed the increased *eyes-on-the-road* time shown by other researchers [4, 58, 81]. Drivers had a reduced visual search and spent on average 1.5 s longer monitoring the lead-car. More details are provided in the publication [P9]. According to the participants' feedback, the WSD was preferred and supported them best in detecting hazards.

Conclusions & Future Work Overall, our own and the related research showed that a world-fixed placement is superior to the screen-fixed equivalent in terms of safety and user satisfaction. The need for AR seems apparent but its characteristics are still to be determined. Researchers utilized prototypes of varying fidelity, size and depth coverage, ranging from graphic WSDs [98] to (3D) augmented virtuality prototypes [25]. This is reasonable since the characteristics of future WSDs are unknown and researchers disagree on the required size of the AR FoV. By now, most of the AR studies focused on the drivers' central visual field, covering the road ahead. We extended the AR area to exceed the minimal requirements $(20^{\circ} \times 10^{\circ} \text{ as suggested by [4, 66]})$ and annotated central as well as peripheral hazards and buildings. The drivers detected peripheral hazards in about the same time but their vision was more focused on the road scene ahead when hazards were directly annotated instead of hinted by screen-fixed warnings on the HUD. We conclude that an AR WSD is beneficial for the driver and safety. Furthermore, we argue that the FoV should cover the entire or at least large parts of the windshield. Future research needs to investigate the augmentation in peripheral FoV more deeply, potentially along with the driver's visual behavior and reflexes (as mentioned in the prior section on *Information Placement*).

Similar to the AR FoV size, researchers also discuss the need of a registration in depth: Ng-Thow-Hing and colleagues [86] think that a separation in depth may be beneficial as it supports visual search due to increased clarity and legibility [96]. In contrast, Gabbard and colleagues [41] think that such separation raises safety concerns. However, we are not aware of a study that compares 2D and 3D AR for drivers directly and supports one of these arguments. As 2D registration may be easier to technologically realize, future research should delineate the depth requirements.

4.5.2 Head-stabilized versus Screen-fixed Placement

With the growing market and distribution of AR and VR glasses, head-stabilized content is becoming more popular. Yet, until now see-through glasses have been utilized only sparsely in the automotive area. As head-stabilized content remains always within the FoV and at a fixed position, its recognition is highly probable even when the driver looks away from the road [69]. This may suggest increased safety in critical situations. But head-stabilized displays are more prone to clutter and to occlude the driver's sight [68] than the WSD as the FoV is smaller and head motions cannot alleviate the problem.

Overview of Related Research Lauber et al. [68] compared see-through glasses (head-stabilized) with a classic HUD (screen-fixed). They did not find statistically significant differences in the driver's reaction time to speed limit and collision warnings. Drivers rejected the head-stabilized content and favored the HUD due to its steadiness, spatial stability and higher quality. In a later study, Lauber et al. [69] showed a significantly better response time to head-stabilized warnings when the area for warnings was marked. Nonetheless, drivers preferred the HUD. Jose et al. [54] displayed speed, gear and route guidance information on a HUD, a HMD (head-stabilized) and a classic HDD, by means of VR glasses. The participants made fewer errors, maintained a more constant speed and detected the most pedestrians in the HUD condition. However, the difference between HUD and HMD was not as pronounced as between HUD and HDD. The drivers preferred the HUD over the HDD as the downward glances are unnecessary. The HMD image was displayed in the same distance but above the straight line of sight and received the lowest ratings.

Research Need Due to the issues mentioned above, we do not consider the use of see-through head-mounted displays for drivers as worthwhile. Yet, a head-mounted display might be useful for motorcyclists since reflecting an image into the motorcycle's windshield is problematic, riders are obligated to wear a helmet (to which the HMD can be attached and which already limits the FoV) and have a strong need as they are exposed to high risks. Currently, a lot of effort is invested into the development of helmets equipped with a see-through display. Yet, their actual risks and benefits have rarely been researched (see [P2]).

Our Research Contribution We developed a monocular see-through head-mounted display based on a conventional smartphone which is attached to a motorcyclist's helmet [P2]. In a riding simulator study, we compared the head-stabilized display with a standard head-down display (screen-fixed). To better inform riders and support a realistic assessment of the situation, riders were provided with speed, speed limit and curve information (including warnings). The HMD reduced workload and speeding. Our participants preferred the HMD over the HDD and found it more attractive, safer and easier to perceive information. Nonetheless, most riders were not interested in curve warnings and wanted speed information only.

Conclusions & Future Work Although head-stabilized warnings can improve the driver's reaction time, we think that they bring along too many disadvantages and risks. Yet, a head-stabilized display for motorcyclists seems to be promising and could become an equivalent to the driver's HUD. Future binocular helmet-mounted displays may provide depth and a large FoV and eventually AR. Yet, we do not recommend to extend its content to, for example, smartphone applications as it will possibly become true for the WSD. The motorcyclist's limited FoV is prone to clutter, occlusion, overload and distraction phenomena such as cognitive tunneling, resulting in risks outweighing the benefits and consequently severe safety concerns.

4.5.3 Placement Strategies suitable for WSDs

HUDs are just now setting out from 2D display spaces. Screen-fixed placement has been the default and will remain relevant in the future simply because most content has no relation to the outside world (unsuitable for registered placement). For the tested scenarios and applications, world-fixed placement seemed to be the better alternative. However, the type and amount of content displayed in these studies was limited and we cannot anticipate how several different items such as points of interest, route guidance and warnings will affect the driver. Several virtual objects moving around the scene might be overloading and highly distracting, as the study of Rao et al. [100] indicated. It remains to be researched how many resources will then be left for the timely perception of urgent information.

Head-stabilization could draw the driver's attention when not looking at, e.g., a danger or through the windshield (in case a head-mounted device is used). However, at the moment we cannot imagine a scenario in which head-stabilization, particularly when realized through head-mounted devices, is the most suitable solution. We hypothesize that the screen- or world-fixed information in combination with other communication channels, e.g., auditive or haptic feedback, draws the drivers attention just as well as head-stabilized information, without being limited by the system's and driver's field of view. This hypothesis needs to be examined in future work. As the first placement strategy may interrupt the driver and gain attention and the latter could guide the attention, a combined approach is conceivable. Future research has to incorporate audio warnings since these can effectively draw the drivers' attention, independently of where they are looking at, and warnings should use as many channels as possible, as proposed by Bubb et al. [19].

4.6 Information Layout

In the previous chapters, we learned that the drivers' ability to detect, recognize and respond to information across the WSD varies and depends on the information location. Badly designed windshield display interfaces cause the drivers to be distracted, meaning that they devote less perceptual and attentional resources to the road as potentially needed (more details can be found in [P4]). Well-known design problems of WSD interfaces such as occlusion, clutter and overload [41, 95, 100] are linked to the placement of content. As Dingus et al. [31] already pointed out, the placement of the single items on the WSD and the resulting arrangement need to be considered wisely to minimize distraction.

We also learned, that the WSD content is of varying importance for the driving task and the driver. For most of this content, there is no obvious location within the 3D space of the futuristic WSD. For example, the speedometer, the music control, or an incoming message are features that are used frequently but do not suggest a location on the windshield display themselves. But where should (such) information be placed (RQ 4)?

As suggested by the *ecological interface design* framework [22, 122], we first approached the *work environment* to design a concept that is perceptually adequate and supports effective and natural information uptake. The framework suggests to then approach the users' *cognitive processes*, particularly when the *goal-directed behaviors are highly affected by dynamic environmental constraints* as it is the case for car drivers. Accordingly, we incorporated their placement preferences and layouts. We close this process by comparing the obtained layout variants and pointing at the need for revisions and further investigation. In particular, we applied the following four major steps:

- (1) We consulted vision research to identify locations which can be considered safe as they promote information uptake but do not interfere with the driving scene and task. We extracted 3D information spaces within the FoV and assigned content to those spaces. This step resulted in a one-fits-all concept for information layout (*view management*).
- (2) We asked drivers to design their personal layouts in order to obtain locations and layouts which are liked and intuitive for the drivers and hence presumably promote a better user satisfaction (than a one-fits-all layout). We then extracted layout patterns and assessed the safety of the obtained *personalized* information layouts.
- (3) We *compared* the one-fits-all with the personalized layouts in a driving simulator study to find out which of the two is the safer version (in regard of information perception).
- (4) We point at the need for revision and further elaboration of the view management concept as well as future research.

4.6.1 View Management Concept (One-fits-all Layout)

Information needs to be placed at locations which promote fast and easy information uptake; meaning that the driver can detect appearing or changing information when focusing on the road scene and glances towards this information require little time and effort (see section on *Safety Risks & Benefits*). As we learned in the previous chapter, the visual perception suggests to place content at the central positions. Dingus et al. [31] point at the influence of the eccentricity on the switching time and suggest to place content as close to the center as *'is practical'*. However, these locations are also central for the driving task and WSD information cannot occlude or clutter the driver's view [50]. Both might hamper the tracking of the road situation and a failure or delay in detecting hazards. As follows, the WSD locations have to be chosen also in consideration of the road scene.

Overview of Related Research Currently, most interfaces on, e.g., the smartphone but also on the conventional HUD, are laid out by means of 2D layout patterns – which are not (directly) applicable to a 3D WSD. The WSD may cover the entire windshield but (permanently visible) content needs to be scattered around the driving scene to avoid occlusion. A view management concept summarizes such criteria and rules and suggests particular locations and strategies for information placement. View management is largely researched in the area of see-through HMDs (e.g., [5, 105, 112]). These approaches focus on the world-fixed positioning of annotations which ensures that both world and content are well-perceptible. This is certainly highly relevant for AR content on the windshield

display, but does not provide a solution for content without a relation to the outside scene. Consequently, a placement strategy that combines screen-fixed with world-registered content is needed (head-stabilization is excluded as explained in the section on *Information Placement Strategies*).

Lindemann et al. [72] and Lauber et al. [68] approached a multi-stage view management concept for the driver, however, they did not integrate these placement strategies either. Lindemann et al. [72] suggested an interface that displays mainly driving-related content on the windshield's bottom edge or as an overlay to the car's interior. The authors discussed the aspects of content stabilization (head and car), the canvas shape (flat and spherical) and the layering (multiple layers with flexible distances) and showed exemplary interfaces. Furthermore, they suggested some basic guidelines, for example, to support the perception of urgent information by blurring the remaining UI. It is further proposed to pre-define the depth level of the information layers based on their relevance but to allow drivers personalizing them. Items can switch the depth layers according to its relevance, context and the driver's preference. Lauber et al. [68] proposed a view management concept for HMDs. The content is either stabilized to the driver's head or to the car – world-registered content is neglected. The FoV is subdivided like a classic border layout (based on cardinal points) and features slots for, e.g., permanently visible (driving-related) content or temporary, urgent warnings. The content is dynamically assigned to a slot and designed depending on the situation and the driver's head-motions.

Research Need As explained earlier, we do not consider a head-mounted display and headstabilized placement as appropriate for drivers. The placement approach of Lindemann et al. [72] would most probably require a HMD to realize the suggested placements, like the concept of Lauber et al. [68]. Both concepts are at an early stage and not sufficiently supported with related work. The authors did not explain their methodology or the choice of locations and content. Furthermore, they did not incorporate the driver in the design process or evaluate the concepts. Based on the information provided in the publications, we cannot estimate the safety and user satisfaction of these approaches and so we do not regard them as appropriate view management concepts for drivers.

Our Research Contribution Our one-fits-all view management concept (see [P1, P8]) exceeds the related work by far. In addition to the classic driving-related information we regarded also unrelated content, such as entertainment or communication functions. We particularly consider the transfer of smartphone content to the WSD, as we hypothesize that accessing it on the WSD is safer. Our view management concept suggests several 3D information spaces that are tied to a specific type of content, e.g., safety-critical or personal information. We segmented the FoV in information spaces and assigned content based on the ideal that the response time should correlate negatively with the importance of the information. We classified the importance of information based on the safetyrelevance, immediacy, task-relation and context of information, as well as the information complexity and frequency of access, as suggested by Kun, Treten and Tsimhoni et al. [61, 120, 117]. As explained later, smartphone users apply similar criteria when arranging their smartphone apps [12]. As for the locations, we identified areas which are close to the driver's line of sight but do not occlude the areas relevant for safe driving (based on visual scanning patterns). Simultaneously, we identified locations which are preferred by the drivers and promote information uptake by means of our own and related research about visual perception. We furthermore suggested several depth ranges based on the theory of proxemics [45]. Together, the areas and depth ranges create up to six 3D information spaces of which three are intended to be permanently visible.

Though more profound and backed up by related work, also our concept was a first draft which required further elaboration and safety evaluation. To iteratively improve our concept, we conducted a first formative study in which we asked drivers about their placement preferences after they experienced example 3D WSDs on a HMD (see next section). We included the basic layout preferences of drivers into our concept and decided to compare it with more sophisticated personalized layouts.

4.6.2 Drivers' Personalized Layouts

Personalization is a topic of increasing importance and spreading. For example, smartphones are so deeply personalized that they are considered as 'the extended self' [106]. People are used to choose the content and arrange it within the display space (within boundaries) which increases personal attachment to the device [12, 77]. It is not surprising that users expect the car's interfaces to be customizable as well [40, 115]. So far, car interfaces provide only little freedom for customization, although, researchers pointed at this need already more than 20 years ago. The car should allow the driver to adjust the content as well as its location, activation, representation, rate and onset [42].

Earlier, we considered the personalization of the WSD content and the transfer of information from the personal devices to the windshield. The flexibility of amount and type of content requires a customizable arrangement, which we researched as part of this thesis.

Overview of Related Research & Research Need So far, researchers suggested to personalize, e.g., the depth layers or the activation (on/off) of an item, but looked deeper into the preferred HUD location, only. Tretten [117] asked drivers at which windshield location they would like to position their head-up display after using a very basic HUD showing the speed. Most drivers wanted the HUD close to the center of their attention but not directly in it. They placed the speedometer within



Figure 4.3: The upper left image shows how the applied view management (first version) could look like when content is displayed in every information space. The remaining three images show example layouts created by the drivers who participated in the AV simulation study. The images show 2D versions of the driving scenes in which the drivers had to place content.

an area of 5° around the center (69%) but mostly below it (57%). The remaining participants placed the HUD more between 10° and 25° to the left (19%) or to the right (12%) or the center. We are not aware of a study that investigated the placement of more than one piece of information on the WSD and hence we cannot draw conclusions about their layout preferences.

Since we consider the display of smartphone content, of which the layout is personalized, we looked briefly into related work about the users' app arrangement strategies. Böhmer et al. [12] found that most people personalize their phone layouts and revise it when the content changes (apps added or removed). Users arrange the apps primarily based on the frequency of use, importance and relevance (separation on pages, e.g., important apps are on the first page) as well as the context (related apps are grouped). Users may try similar placement strategies on the WSD, but due the several distinct factors such as the display size, depth (2D versus 3D), these strategies are not fully applicable.

Our Research Contribution We performed a formative study [P8] and a lab experiment [P1] to obtain insights into the drivers' placement preferences. The formative study collected the favored locations for abstract content. We found the areas for urgent warnings and car-related content to be well-confirmed. Furthermore, the results indicated that there are no locations and particularly no depth levels that feel natural to all drivers. As far as possible and reasonable, the results of this study were incorporated in the design of the one-fits-all layout.

The lab experiment utilized the AlloSphere, a near-to-spherical VR situation room. A car mockup (see *Appendix*) and 360° 3D driving scenes created a visual reference close to a real driving situation. Within several iterations and driving scenes, the drivers designed their personalized 3D layout. We requested the drivers to define location, depth and size for ten driving-relevant and non-relevant graphical items and to think aloud during this procedure. This task was not compatible with a driving task and hence executed as (single) primary task. It is not surprising that the drivers wanted to personalize their WSD interfaces and that these configurations differ strongly, also from our one-fits-all layout. Many drivers aligned numerous items along the bottom edge of the windshield which is considered a generally safe location. Thereby, the drivers placed the items lower than the conventional HUD area. Most drivers did not place the content in the central area or too close to the line of sight. These findings are conflicting with prior research about the drivers' favored HUD location, simply because the areas that were chosen the most by our drivers (the left and bottom edges of the windshield) were not provided in prior research [117, 120, 137]. These studies also often limited the choice to a small area and asked for one location instead of many.

Participants placed related content close to each other. This overall confirmed the context-specific areas of the view management concept. Drivers also placed items across the entire windshield and at driving-relevant locations (e.g., on top of pedestrians) – jeopardizing safety. We could rarely discern registered placements (intending an AR placement) and explicit depth choices – potentially because it is a new variable which they are not used to adjust (in 2D layouts) but possibly also because there is no such thing as an intuitive depth for digital information.

4.6.3 Layout Comparison

Overall, we assumed that the one-fits-all layout is safer, as it is based on vision research but rejected by the participants due to the desire for personalization. The personalized layouts would be preferred and may potentially foster similar information perception performance as the content is placed as liked but cannot be considered safe since driving-related FoV areas might be used. In order to investigate these hypotheses and understand the safety trade-off between the one-fits-all and the drivers' personalized layouts, we compared both variants in a performance-measuring simulator study.

Overview of Related Research & Research Need As both the view management concept and the personalized layouts are new approaches and exceed related work, we cannot position our work within related automotive research.

We re-invited the participants of the prior study and requested them to perform the same tasks with their personalized layout and our one-fits-all concept. We also utilized the same full-surround 3D setup as in the prior study. The driving was simulated by means of a medium-demanding ConTRe task and highly realistic 3D driving footage. Next to driving, participants had to perform a detection-response task with shape-based stimuli (decoupled from the content of the previously used items). To pose a high workload, the stimuli were scheduled in a high frequency at the locations of the personalized layouts or the view management concept, respectively.

Our Research Contribution Although we separated both studies by more than one week, some drivers still recognized their layouts. The drivers showed a higher response performance when using the view management concept. We found both types to be compliant with the ideal of high performance for highly important information. The response performance decreased towards higher angles, which is compliant with prior research, and also for locations at which less relevant information would be placed. This suggests, that the drivers did consider the importance of the content when they placed it, like when laying out the apps on their phones [12]. However, the content was also placed further away from the road scene. This means that the aforementioned trade-off between proximity to the line of sight (allowing for fast perception of the display content) and the occlusion of the road scene (hampering its perception) was not optimized in the personalized layouts – suggesting that there are safer approaches. For the view management concept, we cannot draw a conclusion about the balance of occlusion and proximity, but its design considered this interrelation.

The differences between the two layout versions may be smaller in a less demanding situation and with more realistic information update frequency. Our drivers found it difficult to respond to the stimuli while driving. They further assessed the driving task to be medium realistic and difficult which is confirmed by their performance. The detection-response task was designed to be challenging in order to identify even small differences, as suggested by Gish et al. [42]. From a methodological perspective, this research contributes a novel type of driving simulation. We merged the ConTRe task, which provides a high level of control and solid metrics, with footage of real driving, which is more realistic than a simulated world by nature. We think this type of driving simulation is suitable particularly for research about the driver's visual perception, especially when it comes to the perception of the world (for example, in AR and visual search studies). The impact of the de-coupling of the driver's actions and the scene on the realism and the comparability to 3D driving simulators needs to be researched in future work.

4.6.4 Conclusions & Future Work

We are concerned about the safety impacts of WSDs in general and the content arrangement in particular due to the aforementioned reasons such as overload, clutter and occlusion. Accordingly, we created a one-fits-all layout that is built upon vision research. Safety is the highest goal but there is demand to integrate all sorts of content. We assumed that personalized interfaces are more intuitive (the driver finds information at locations that seem natural to him/her and hence access information faster) but questioned their safety. Consequently, we collected customized arrangements for the same amount and type of content. We compared those layouts in a driving simulator study and found that the research-based layout was superior to the customized and presumably more intuitive versions.

Since some of the drivers are either not aware of the occlusion issue or disrespect it when designing the layout (resulting in unsafe layouts) we conclude that WSDs with a fully configurable layout cannot be considered safe. Yet, drivers want personalization and research utilizing other devices or interfaces showed an increased acceptance and satisfaction [12, 77, 106]. However, they also want to adjust these layouts frequently which is more alarming as this might prevent learning. If drivers apply the same behavior as with their phone, they will update the layout when content is added or removed from the display, which seems to happen at least once a month for experienced users [12]. The consistancy of the information location supports learning and so drivers may derive the importance of content from its location without glancing at it. Drivers may be alerted and react fast when content occurs at critical locations but ignore it at other locations. After all, this may increase the time and attention a driver devotes to the driving task and hence safety.

The overall goal of the view management concept is to minimize distraction and enhance the efficiency of information uptake. From our studies we conclude that the view management concept needs revision. As explained earlier, we need to apply an iterative and human-centered research approach, specifically when designing such safety-critical interfaces. In both publications [P1, P8], we identified needs for revision, further elaboration and future research. In the *Appendix* [B] of this thesis we present a revised version of our view management concept. An optimized view management concept could serve as a default layout which may be customized (within boundaries) by the drivers. We think further research is needed to investigate *at which windshield display locations content should be placed* (RQ 4). Future research should consider a combined approach and let drivers design their own layouts within the safe areas. At the same time, the safety and usability of personalized WSD interfaces as well as their learnability should be addressed. Eventually, researchers need to look deeply into distraction and foremost into the cognitive tunneling and attention capture phenomena. It is of utmost importance that, even and particularly when the display is personalized, the content layout and design do not encourage or cause the drivers to be overly engaged in using it.

5

FUTURE WINDSHIELD DISPLAYS

Even during the time period that this thesis' research was carried out, substantial advancements were made in area of head-up displays but also in other, related fields. We think that two trends, autonomous driving and AR devices, may influence the future need and relevance of the windshield display considerably and that it may possibly decide about its realization, as discussed below. Yet, the car industry is investing heavily into the development of the windshield display, which already resulted in increased image sizes and depths. Below, we report the prototypes and showcases exhibited at recent technology fairs. In consideration of these trends and technological advancements as well as our own and related research, we forecast what the interface of the future WSD may look like.

5.1 Interplay with other Trends

Along with the windshield display, there are two major trends which will strongly influence the need for a WSD and its eventual realization: Autonomous driving as well as high-class AR consumer devices may make the AR WSD obsolete as the *user* might either be released from the driving task or provided with an omni-present display alternative.

Autonomous Driving Automotive trends other than the WSD will also influence the driver's future cockpit and tasks tremendously. The biggest changes will come along with autonomous driving. Once cars drive fully autonomous, the windshield and its see-through displays may lose importance or even be omitted. The algorithms are improving continuously but still require the driver to take over control in difficult situations. Until cars drive fully autonomously, the display may help the driver to understand such situations and resume the driving task quickly and safely. Furthermore, we assume that windshield displays can help the user building trust in autonomous driving. As this is an important topic, researchers explore different ways of increasing trust, for example, through computer vision-based and anthropomorphic HUD interfaces [63, 125]. We investigated the trustworthiness of an autopilot when its actions and understanding of the surroundings are made transparent through different 3D visualizations (see [P6]). We showed that a miniature world, as a referent to the real world situation, can increase trust even more than an anthropomorphic visualization.

Once cars drive fully autonomously and people trust their abilities, the need for a windshield display as we consider it in this thesis might be diminished or even resolved. However, it is questioned whether manual driving will be abolished completely or if it will remain, for example, in cheap and old cars or as a hobby – which would frame a future for the WSD.

AR Consumer Devices Simultaneously to the HUD, AR devices for the daily and permanent use are in development and expected to be the next generation consumer device, potentially replacing the smartphone. Once such a technology is available and people are used to wear it continuously,

they will most likely keep wearing and using it in the car – which would make the WSD superfluous. However, for in-car use see-through HMDs would need to become extremely light-weight and unobtrusive and provide a larger FoV without blocking or influencing the driver's peripheral vision. Then, windshield displays will need to provide considerable benefits compared to such devices to assure itself a place in the future car. Yet, such AR devices will not be available any time soon as their development is just as challenging as the realization of a full-size 3D windshield display.

5.2 Expected Display Characteristics (Size & Depth)

Academia and industry work on extending the head-up display in size and depth. Reviewing the available HUDs, it seems that little size and depth advancements have been accomplished in the last years. Yet, car manufacturers and suppliers advertise with AR head-up displays and show off working prototypes at recent technology exhibitions such as the CES (Consumer Electronics Show). For example, Volkswagen presented an AR HUD with an image of $10^{\circ} \times 4^{\circ}$. Instead of a full depth coverage, they decided for two layers which will spatially separate the AR information from the screen-fixed content such as infotainment functions (in 2 m and 15 m). They further want to display content only on the drivers' demand and depending on the gaze, e.g., hiding irrelevant information to lower clutter [1, 49, 64]. Panasonic developed an integrable HUD which reaches a virtual image with $12^{\circ} \times 5^{\circ}$ and an image distance of 10 m [92]. Wayray presented a holographic AR HUD with gesture control and an image size of $11^{\circ} \times 8^{\circ}$. This HUD is also developed as an aftermarket version to upgrade existing cars with a reduced image size and distance ($8^{\circ} \times 4^{\circ}$, 10 m) [85, 36]. A lot of research and development is invested in aftermarket and motorcycle HUDs, such as the Visteon HUD and the Nuviz helmet which even won the innovation award at CES 2018. This underlines the need and the expected safety benefits.

These systems deliver a virtual image which is approximately four times as big as the one of current HUDs – but they are still far from covering the entire windshield. Yet, the various interface designs and concept cars show that most car manufacturers aim for a full-size 3D WSD, such as the one from BMW [11]. However, the realization of such a display is challenging and will surely take a couple of years. But the considerable investments promise that large 3D windshield displays will be available in the future. This indicates that the display size and depth coverage will grow gradually. Consequently, it justifies researching the change from the current head-up display to the future windshield display and specifically the exploration of user interfaces (e.g., the content, its placement and layout) as well as the application of prototypes with varying abilities.

5.3 Expected User Interface

The presented content, the implemented stabilization approaches, the used placement concepts and the interactivity of the WSD will depend on its technological realization and abilities. Although there is still a lot of research needed until the windshield displays are feasible and market-ready, the knowledge and experience we gained during the presented research and in regard of the trends and advancements described above lets us expect the following features and directions of development.

Content We expect that future windshield displays will present a larger amount and variety of content, particularly non-driving-related, personal content. To counteract phone use, smartphone content is already accessible through in-car (head-down) display and external HUD devices. Displaying this content on the HUD could further contribute to road safety. Accordingly, we expect that future windshield displays will host (more) non-driving-related and personal content from other in-car displays as well as the smartphone. This will come along with more freedom to personalize the WSD content. Nevertheless, future research has to ensure that the use of smartphone functions does not increase and drivers become overly engaged and distracted.

Information Stabilization AR is one of the major motivations to extend the HUD to a WSD. It is assumed to be safer and preferred compared to a classic screen-fixed display and so far research seems to overall confirm this hypothesis. Accordingly, we expect that AR will be launched with the first WSD version. Nevertheless, screen-fixed content will remain the standard for most WSD content, also for content that is associated with the surroundings but cannot be annotated to the real object as it is not visible to the driver. We do not expect that head- or gaze-stabilization will be realized in the car, unless AR glasses will be used to compensate for the unavailable WSD.

Information Placement We expect that the windshield display will spatially separate drivingrelated from unrelated content. We think that the layout will be similar to our revised view management concept but may feature less areas (like the VW showcase [1, 49, ?]). We further think that drivers will not be allowed to place content as liked across the windshield and also highly doubt that the layout will be personalizable any time soon. Potentially, information will be superimposed only on the drivers' demand to lower distraction, load and temptation to engage into interacting with particularly personal content (see [P3]).

Interaction The current interaction concepts and controls will probably not be usable with a large, 3D WSD. The (AR) items may move around the scene and be located in different distances as they are registered to real world objects. Classic controls are designed for simple 2D interfaces and are limited to actions such as up/down or left/right. Such controls (for screen-fixed content) will need to be complemented with new interaction methods, such as gestures and finger pointing.



Figure 5.1: Mockup of how a future windshield display could look like. It combines registered and screen-fixed content and makes use of the entire windshield area as well as the depth. Image based on https://pixabay.com/de/leben-schönheit-szene-stadt-864373, retrieved on May 2, 2018.

6 Conclusions

Since major car manufacturers re-discovered the head-up display and successfully introduced it to the market, it is gaining increasing attention and acceptance. The head-up display is the safest one of the standard in-car displays and helps particularly in regard of visual perception and information uptake (see section on *Risks & Benefits*). Users value this support to such an extent that they stop accessing the provided information on other displays [117]. To exploit the HUD's benefits, substantial effort is invested into enlarging the image size and depth. Currently, the vision of a windshield display that spans a three-dimensional display space covering the driver's entire visual field through the windshield is technologically not yet realizable. However, gradual and steady advancements suggest that a windshield display will be available in the future.

The HUD's prominent position is its major advantage but also its biggest risk – as its proximity to the outside scene enhances information uptake but also invites the driver to attend the display's content instead of the driving task. This trade-off raises the question whether *the extension from the head-up display to the windshield display is reasonable and desirable (lead RQ)*. We approached this question by assessing the risks and benefits of the new display space and depth coverage and particularly by investigating five research questions. We developed a design space and prototypes which fit the entire spectrum from the classic HUD to the envisioned WSD. We conducted applied, human-centred research in the areas of information content, perception, placement and stabilization. In table 6.1, we present our five research questions and provide a short answer based on our and related research.

As noted earlier, we regard the windshield display as reasonable and desirable when there is content which (A) is worth being presented to the drivers, (B) requires or profits from the extended display space and (C) potentially benefits from a separation in depth, or registration with the physical world.

- (A) We learned from our research that the drivers' content preferences diverge strongly. Since superfluous content on the WSD increases the risk of distraction, we suggest to allow drivers to personalize their display's content. Most drivers give priority to driving-related content that supports them in executing their tasks. As such content can be time-critical and a 3D WSD can speed up information recognition, we regard the display of driving-related content as worthwhile. There seems to be a growing interest in having non-driving-related content displayed which we regard as desirable if it reduces the dangerous smartphone use. As we assume that such content is more distracting and hence poses a higher risk, future research will need to study its impacts on the driver and safety. *We conclude* that safety-relevant information and potentially also personal information is worth being presented on the windshield display.
- (B) The HUD's display space is not sufficient to host a larger amount of content and to spatially separate the various types of content contextually, which helps finding information and is wanted

by the drivers. Consequently, an extended display space is required. Within a display area of approximately 30° horizontally and 20° vertically centred around the drivers' line of sight, the information uptake and driving performance seem to be comparable with the HUD area, provided that the driving scene is fully perceptible. Permanently visible information should be placed within this visual field ($30^{\circ} \times 20^{\circ}$). The remaining space is regarded as unsuitable for permanently visible information but needed for world-registered content. The (screen-fixed) information should be complemented with (temporary) world-registered information which makes use of the entire display area – if possible, the entire windshield. Augmented reality helps understanding both information and situation and can increase the drivers' focus on the driving task and should therefore be applied whenever the content is related to the outside scene. *We conclude* that it is meaningful to extend the display area to as large as possible.

(C) Augmented reality is the most pronounced argument in favor of the depth coverage. Related research suggests that AR requires accurate depth matching. Our research indicates that a 2D WSD might also do, however, from the current state of research we cannot determine whether the accurate depth registration induces a performance and hence a safety benefit.

People are used to arrange items in 2D display spaces and apply similar patterns when doing so on the WSD. Assigning a depth in a 3D space is rather new to them and seems unintuitive. Nevertheless, drivers consistently decided for one standard depth layer and chose to place few items considerably closer or further away. We expect that arranging content in depth will become as natural and helpful as in 2D spaces once people get used to 3D interfaces, which use depth in a meaningful way. *We conclude* that a separation in depth (e.g., several layers) as well as a registration in depth is helpful and wanted by the drivers and that one single layer will not be enough for the future windshield display. Further research is needed to understand how depth can be applied as a meaningful design factor for screen-fixed content (e.g., to structure it) and to exploit the benefits of augmented reality.

Provided its interface is responsibly designed and used, *we conclude from our research that the ex-tension from head-up display to windshield display is reasonable and desireable*. We further think that the windshield display can increase the safety and the users' satisfaction – even in comparison to the conventional HUD. Nevertheless, more research is needed to fully understand the interrelation be-tween the windshield display and the driver's visual perception, cognition, behavior and performance. We therefore refer to the needs for future research which we mentioned in the previous sections.

Research Questions & Answers

1 Which content could be presented on the windshield display?

Overall, the WSD's extended display space allows to present a larger amount of information as well as new content, which require a large display space or 3D. Related as well as our own research showed that drivers can imagine a large variety of content for the windshield display (see [P7]). However, when imagining the content of their personal display, the preferences in regard of amount and type differ strongly. Table 4.2 (see section on *Information Content*) and [P1] summarize our findings as answer to RQ 1. Drivers consistently prioritized driving-related content but seem to have an increasing interest in seeing non-driving-related content, e.g., from their smartphone, on their WSD. To reduce superfluous content and driver distraction, the WSD content needs to become personalizable.

2 What design opportunities do HUDs and WSDs provide?

The key differences between HUD and WSD are the extended display space and the potential depth coverage – and thereby the transition from 2D to 3D. Researchers agree that the most prominent design opportunity resulting from the transition from HUD to WSD is augmented reality. The extended size and depth create new or interrelate with existing design factors, which we summarized in our design space (see [P7] and figure 4.1 in the section on *Design Space*).

3 Which windshield display locations support information uptake?

Our as well as related research showed that the driver's performance in responding to appearing stimuli is best at the locations 5° around but particularly to the right of the center. The drivers' response performance correlates with the eccentricity, meaning that the closer the location is to driver's line of sight the better it supports information uptake. Furthermore, the response performance declines in an elliptical shape, which means that locations at the horizon level support information uptake better than equally eccentric locations in the vertical line (see [P5] and the section on *Information Perception*).

4 At which windshield display locations should content be placed?

In general, we suggest that content should be placed at locations that promote a fast information uptake (see RQ 3) but do not hinder the driving task, e.g., through occluding the driving scene. The areas below the driver's normal line of sight (overlaying asphalt) are most suitable, followed by locations above the line of sight (overlaying sky). Overall, information should be placed within an area of approximately 15° . Registered information (AR) needs to make use of the entire windshield space and its location has to adopt dynamically to not occlude the point of interest. We summarized such guidelines in a *view management* concept which suggests 3D information spaces. We also approached this question by asking drivers where they want information to be presented. The locations chosen by the drivers are not considered safe, as they could occlude the driving scene and do not promote information uptake as good as the suggested concept does. We conclude that drivers should not be allowed to choose the locations at which content is placed (from the entire windshield space). We learned from the drivers' preferences and performance and refined our location suggestions, as depicted in the figure 6.1 (see [P1, P8] and the section on *Information Layout* and *Appendix [B]*).

5 Which placement strategies are suitable for the windshield display?

HUDs are just now setting out from 2D display spaces. *Screen-fixed* placement has been the default and will remain relevant in the future simply because most content has no relation to the outside world. Whenever possible, our as well as related research suggests that *world-fixed* placement is the better alternative (see [P9]). *Head-stabilization* encounters its limits when it comes to the system's and driver's field of view (see [P2]). At the moment we cannot imagine a scenario in which head-stabilization is the better choice than a screen- or world-fixed placement in combination with other channels, e.g., auditive or haptic feedback (see section on *Information Placement Strategies*).

LIST OF PUBLICATIONS & OWN CONTRIBUTION

The research presented in this thesis was conducted at Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität München (LMU Munich), IAV GmbH and University of California, Santa Barbara (UCSB) between 2013 and 2017. Within this time I collaborated with other researchers and students. The majority of the experiments was part of Bachelor's and Master's Theses which I supervised throughout the entire process. I supplied the initial theses' topics and research ideas and contributed primarily to the concept development, the study design and the analysis. I supervised the study conduct and implementation and contributed in few studies. The two studies presented in the publication [P1] were carried out at UCSB and were not part of a student's thesis. I was in duty of the ideation, the concept and study design, implementation, study conduct and analysis and supported and supervised during theses phases by the local researchers.

My contribution to the research and its single phases is depicted below each publication. All of the publications were written primarily by myself and reviewed by the co-authors. The publications [P1, P2, P5-P9] are part of this thesis.

[P1] Renate Häuslschmid, Donghao Ren, Andreas Butz, Florian Alt, and Tobias Höllerer. Personalizing Content Presentation on large 3D Head-Up Displays. Submitted to MIT PRESENCE Journal, Special Issue on Virtual and Augmented Reality for Autonomous Driving and Intelligent Vehicles. Under review.

Own contribution: I contributed largely to the ideation, study design, implementation, analysis, and the publication writing.

[P2] Renate Häuslschmid, Benjamin Fritzsche, and Andreas Butz. 2018. Can a Helmet-mounted Display make Motorcycling Safer?. In *Proceedings of the 23nd International Conference* on *Intelligent User Interfaces* (IUI '18). ACM, New York, NY, USA, 10 pages. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1145/3172944.3172963

Own contribution: I contributed largely to the ideation, study design, analysis, and the publication writing. I contributed moderately to the concept.

[P3] Renate Häuslschmid, Christopher Klaus, and Andreas Butz. 2017. Presenting Information on the Driver's Demand on a Head-Up Display. In: Bernhaupt R., Dalvi G., Joshi A., K. Balkrishan D., O'Neill J., Winckler M. (eds) Human-Computer Interaction - INTERACT 2017. INTERACT 2017. Lecture Notes in Computer Science, vol 10514. Springer, Cham. 17 pages. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-67684-5_15

Own contribution: I contributed largely to the ideation, study design, analysis, and the publication writing. I contributed moderately to the concept.

[P4] Renate Häuslschmid, Bastian Pfleging, and Andreas Butz. 2017. The Influence of Non-driving-Related Activities on the Driver's Resources and Performance. In: *Meixner G., Müller C. (eds) Automotive User Interfaces. Human–Computer Interaction Series.* Springer, Cham. 33 pages. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-49448-7_8

Own contribution: I contributed largely to the ideation and the publication writing.

[P5] Renate Häuslschmid, Susanne Forster, Katharina Vierheilig, Daniel Buschek, and Andreas Butz. 2017. Recognition of Text and Shapes on a Large-Sized Head-Up Display. In Proceedings of the 2017 Conference on Designing Interactive Systems (DIS '17). ACM, New York, NY, USA, 821-831. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1145/3064663.3064736

Own contribution: I contributed largely to the ideation, study design, analysis, and the publication writing.

[P6] Renate Häuslschmid, Max von Bülow, Bastian Pfleging, and Andreas Butz. 2017. Supporting Trust in Autonomous Driving. In *Proceedings of the 22nd International Conference on Intelligent User Interfaces* (IUI '17). ACM, New York, NY, USA, 319-329. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1145/3025171.3025198

Own contribution: I contributed largely to the ideation, study design, analysis, and the publication writing. I contributed moderately to the concept.

[P7] Renate Häuslschmid, Bastian Pfleging, and Florian Alt. 2016. A Design Space to Support the Development of Windshield Applications for the Car. In *Proceedings of the 2016 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems* (CHI '16). ACM, New York, NY, USA, 5076-5091. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1145/2858036.2858336

Own contribution: I contributed largely to the ideation, the concept, analysis, and the publication writing. I contributed moderately to the study design.

[P8] Renate Häuslschmid, Yixin Shou, John O'Donovan, Gary Burnett, and Andreas Butz. 2016. First Steps towards a View Management Concept for Large-sized Head-up Displays with Continuous Depth. In *Proceedings of the 8th International Conference on Automotive User Interfaces and Interactive Vehicular Applications* (AutomotiveUI '16). ACM, New York, NY, USA, 1-8. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1145/3003715.3005418

Own contribution: I contributed largely to the ideation, concept, study design, analysis, and the publication writing.

[P9] Renate Häuslschmid, Laura Schnurr, Julie Wagner, and Andreas Butz. 2015. Contactanalog Warnings on Windshield Displays promote Monitoring the Road Scene. In Proceedings of the 7th International Conference on Automotive User Interfaces and Interactive Vehicular Applications (AutomotiveUI '15). ACM, New York, NY, USA, 64-71. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.1145/2799250.2799274

Own contribution: I contributed largely to the ideation, study design, analysis, and the publication writing. I contributed moderately to the concept.

[P10] Renate Häuslschmid, Sven Osterwald, Marcus Lang, and Andreas Butz. 2015. Augmenting the Driver's View with Peripheral Information on a Windshield Display. In Proceedings of the 20th International Conference on Intelligent User Interfaces (IUI '15). ACM, New York, NY, USA, 311-321. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.1145/2678025.2701393

Own contribution: I contributed largely to the study design, analysis, and the publication writing. I contributed moderately to the ideation, concept.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- All-electronics.de. 2017. AR-HuD: Head-up-Display mit Augmented Reality. (2017). http://www.all-electronics.de/ar-hud-head-display-augmented-reality/ last accessed on February 12, 2018.
- [2] Audi. 2011. Head-Up Display. (2011). https://www.audi-technology-portal.de/en/ electrics-electronics/controls/head-up-display_en last accessed on February 3, 2018.
- [3] Ronald T. Azuma. 1997. A Survey of Augmented Reality. Presence: Teleoperators and Virtual Environments 6, 4 (1997), 355–385. DOI:http://dx.doi.org/10.1162/pres.1997.6.4. 355
- [4] Karlin Bark, Cuong Tran, Kikuo Fujimura, and Victor Ng-Thow-Hing. 2014. Personal Navi: Benefits of an Augmented Reality Navigational Aid Using a See-Thru 3D Volumetric HUD. In Proceedings of the 6th International Conference on Automotive User Interfaces and Interactive Vehicular Applications (AutomotiveUI '14). ACM, New York, NY, USA, Article 1, 8 pages. DOI:http://dx.doi.org/10.1145/2667317.2667329
- [5] Blaine Bell, Steven Feiner, and Tobias Höllerer. 2001. View Management for Virtual and Augmented Reality. In *Proceedings of the 14th Annual ACM Symposium on User Interface Software and Technology (UIST '01)*. 101–110.
- [6] Jochen Kruse (Mercedes Benz). 2014. Kopf hoch: Informationen im Sichtfeld des Fahrers. (2014). https://www.mercedes-benz.com/de/mercedes-benz/innovation/ kopf-hoch-informationen-im-sichtfeld-des-fahrers/ last accessed on February 3, 2018.
- [7] Guy Berg, Verena Nitsch, and Berthold Färber. 2016. Vehicle in the Loop. Springer International Publishing, Cham, 199–210. DOI:http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-12352-3_10
- [8] José Alejandro Betancur. 2011. Physical Variable Analysis Involved in Head-Up Display Systems Applied to Automobiles. (2011). DOI:http://dx.doi.org/10.5772/25849
- [9] José Alejandro Betancur, Jesús Villa-Espinal, Gilberto Osorio-Gómez, Sergio Cuéllar, and Daniel Suárez. 2016. Research Topics and Implementation Trends on Automotive Head-up display Systems. *International Journal on Interactive Design and Manufacturing (IJIDeM)* 12, 1 (01 Feb 2016), 199–214. DDI:http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s12008-016-0350-3
- [10] BMW. unknown year. BMW Head-Up Display. (unknown year). https: //secure.bmw.com/com/en/newvehicles/2series/active_tourer/2014/showroom/ driving_assistance/bmw_head-up_display.html#t=l last accessed on February 3, 2018.
- [11] Horatiu Boeriu. 2016. BMW Vision Next 100: Full-size Head-Up Display with Augmented Reality. (2016). http://www.bmwblog.com/2016/03/08/ bmw-vision-next-100-full-size-hud-augmented-reality/ last accessed on February 12, 2018.

- [12] Matthias Böhmer and Antonio Krüger. 2013. A Study on Icon Arrangement by Smartphone Users. In Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems (CHI '13). ACM, New York, NY, USA, 2137–2146. DOI:http://dx.doi.org/10.1145/ 2470654.2481294
- [13] Lorenz Bohrer, Stefan Henze, Matthias Hoping, Hans-Hermann Johannes, Wolfgang Kowalsky, Henning Krautwald, Michael Kröger, Jens Meyer, Thomas Riedl, and Heino Wengelnik. 2008. Transparente Anzeigevorrichung für ein Kraftfahrzeug. DE Patent DE200,710,012,571. (17 January 2008). https://register.dpma.de/DPMAregister/pat/PatSchrifteneinsicht? docId=DE102007012571A1 Filed March 13, 2007.
- [14] Adam Bolton, Gary E. Burnett, and David R. Large. 2015. An Investigation of Augmented Reality Presentations of Landmark-based Navigation Using a Head-up Display. In Proceedings of the 7th International Conference on Automotive User Interfaces and Interactive Vehicular Applications (AutomotiveUI '15). ACM, New York, NY, USA, 56–63. DOI:http://dx.doi. org/10.1145/2799250.2799253
- [15] Alexander Boström and Fredrik Ramström. 2014. Head-Up Display for Enhanced User Experience. (2014).
- [16] Sherry Box. 2005. 100-Car Naturalistic Study Fact Sheet. (2005).
- [17] Nora Broy, Simone Höckh, Annette Frederiksen, Michael Gilowski, Julian Eichhorn, Felix Naser, Horst Jung, Julia Niemann, Martin Schell, Albrecht Schmid, and Florian Alt. 2014. Exploring Design Parameters for a 3D Head-Up Display. In *Proceedings of The International Symposium on Pervasive Displays (PerDis '14)*. ACM, New York, NY, USA, Article 38, 6 pages. DOI:http://dx.doi.org/10.1145/2611009.2611011
- [18] Heiner Bubb. 2003. Fahrerassistenz primär ein Beitrag zum Komfort oder für die Sicherheit?. In Der Fahrer im 21. Jahrhundert: Anforderungen, Anwendungen, Aspekte für Mensch-Maschine-Systeme; Tagung Braunschweig, 2. und 3. Juni 2003 (VDI-Berichte; 1768). VDI-Verlag, Düsseldorf, Germany, 25–44. http://bvbr.bib-bvb.de: 8991/F?func=service&doc_library=BVB01&doc_number=010423777&line_number= 0001&func_code=DB_RECORDS&service_type=MEDIA
- [19] Heiner Bubb and H. Schmidtke. 1993. Systemstruktur. Carl Hanser-Verlag, München and Wien. 390–419 pages. 3.Edition.
- [20] Gary E. Burnett. 2000. Usable Vehicle Navigation Systems: Are We There Yet? (2000), 3.1.1–3.1.11.
- [21] Gary E. Burnett. 2003. A Road-based Evaluation of a Head-up Display for Presenting Navigation Information. In *Proceedings of the 10th International Conference on Human-Computer Interaction*, Vol. 3. Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, 180–184.
- [22] C.M. Burns and J. Hajdukiewicz. 2004. Ecological Interface Design. CRC Press.
- [23] Mark W. Cannon. 1987. Recent Advances in Understanding Peripheral Vision. In Proceedings of 30th Annual Meeting of the Human Factors Society, Vol. 30. 601–60.

- [24] Stuart K. Card and Jock Mackinlay. 1997. The Structure of the Information Visualization Design Space. In Proceedings of the 1997 IEEE Symposium on Information Visualization (InfoVis '97) (INFOVIS '97). IEEE Computer Society, Washington, DC, USA, 92-. http: //dl.acm.org/citation.cfm?id=857188.857632
- [25] Vassilis Charissis. 2014. Enhancing Human Responses Through Augmented Reality Head-Up Display in Vehicular Environment. In 2014 11th International Conference Expo on Emerging Technologies for a Smarter World (CEWIT). 1–6. DOI:http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/ CEWIT.2014.7021141
- [26] Vassilis Charissis, Martin Naef, Stylianos Papanastasiou, and Marianne Patera. 2007. Designing a Direct Manipulation HUD Interface for In-vehicle Infotainment. In Proceedings of the 12th International Conference on Human-computer Interaction: Interaction Platforms and Techniques (HCI'07). Springer-Verlag, Berlin, Heidelberg, 551–559. http://dl.acm.org/citation. cfm?id=1757268.1757333
- [27] Vassilis Charissis, Stylianos Papanastasiou, and George Vlachos. 2009. Interface Development for Early Notification Warning System: Full Windshield Head-Up Display Case Study. In *Human-Computer Interaction. Interacting in Various Application Domains*, Julie A. Jacko (Ed.). Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg, 683–692.
- [28] Amos S. Cohen and Rene Hirsig. 1990. Zur Bedeutung des fovealen Sehens f
 ür die Informationsaufnahme bei hoher Beanspruchung. In Sicht und Sicherheit im Stra
 ßenverkehr. Verlag TÜV Rheinland GmbH, Cologne, Germany, 47–58.
- [29] James F. Collins and Loren K. Blackwell. 1974. Effects of Eye Dominance and Retinal Distance on Binocular Rivalry. *Perceptual and Motor Skills* 39, 2 (1974), 747–754. DOI:http://dx. doi.org/10.2466/pms.1974.39.2.747 PMID: 4453490.
- [30] Digilens. 2016-01-05T17:00:40+00:00. DigiLens Takes Motorcycle Head-Up Displays Miles Down the Road. http://www.digilens.com/ digilens-takes-motorcycle-head-up-displays-miles-down-the-road/. (2016 -01-05T17:00:40+00:00).
- [31] Thomas A. Dingus, Melissa C. Hulse, and Woodrow Barfield. 1998. Human-System Intrface Issues in th Design and Use of Advanced Traveler Information Systems. (1998). https: //books.google.de/books?id=ojyYAgAAQBAJ
- [32] Anup Doshi, Shinko Yuanhsien Cheng, and Mohan Manubhai Trivedi. 2009. A Novel Active Heads-up Display for Driver Assistance. *Trans. Sys. Man Cyber. Part B* 39, 1 (Feb. 2009), 85–93. DOI:http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/TSMCB.2008.923527
- [33] David C. Edwards and Paula A. Goolkasian. 1974. Peripheral Vision Location and Kinds of Complex Processing. *Journal of Experimental Psychology* 102, 2 (1974), 244.
- [34] Johan Engström and Gustav Markkula. 2007. Effects of Visual and Cognitive Distraction on Lane Change Test Performance. (2007), 199–205.
- [35] Barrett Ens, Juan David Hincapié-Ramos, and Pourang Irani. 2014. Ethereal Planes: A Design Framework for 2D Information Space in 3D Mixed Reality Environments. In *Proceedings of*

the 2Nd ACM Symposium on Spatial User Interaction (SUI '14). ACM, New York, NY, USA, 2–12. DOI:http://dx.doi.org/10.1145/2659766.2659769

- [36] Darrell Etherington. 2018. WayRay's AR in-car HUD convinced me HUDs can be better. (2018). https://techcrunch.com/2018/01/09/ wayrays-ar-in-car-hud-convinced-me-huds-can-be-better/ last accessed on February 12, 2018.
- [37] John M. Findlay and Iain D. Gilchrist. 2003. Active Vision: The Psychology of Looking and Seeing. Oxford University Press 41, 08 (2003). DOI:http://dx.doi.org/10.5860/choice. 41-4646
- [38] Matteo Fiorani. 2007. Safety Margins Perceptions Integration in the Driver: An Explorative Study on Required Deceleration and Headway in Car-following Tasks. In *Proceedings of the* 14th European Conference on Cognitive Ergonomics: Invent! Explore! (ECCE '07). ACM, New York, NY, USA, 273–276. DOI:http://dx.doi.org/10.1145/1362550.1362607
- [39] Donald L. Fisher, Matthew Rizzo, Jeffrey Caird, and John D. Lee. 2011. Handbook of Driving Simulation for Engineering, Medicine, and Psychology. CRC Press. https://books.google. de/books?id=lnTA8sT8gkEC
- [40] Paul A. Fishwick. 2006. Exploring Attributes of Skins as Potential Antecedents of Emotion in Hci. MIT Press, 405–422. http://ieeexplore.ieee.org/xpl/articleDetails.jsp? arnumber=6285445
- [41] Joe L. Gabbard, Gregory M. Fitch, and Hyungil Kim. 2014. Behind the Glass: Driver Challenges and Opportunities for AR Automotive Applications. *Proc. IEEE* 102, 2 (Feb 2014), 124–136. DOI:http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/JPROC.2013.2294642
- [42] Kenneth W. Gish and Loren Staplin. 1995. Human Factors Aspects of Using Head Up Displays in Automobiles: A Review of the Literature. National Highway Traffic Safety Administration (NHTSA) (report no: DOT HS 808 320), Washington, DC.
- [43] HUDWAY Glass. year unknown. Head-up Display for any Car. (year unknown). https://hudwayglass.com last accessed on February 3, 2018.
- [44] Paula Goolkasian. 1981. Retinal Location and its Effect on the Processing of Target and Distractor Information. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Human Perception and Performance* 7, 6 (1981), 1247.
- [45] Edward Twitchell Hall. 1966. The Hidden Dimension. Doubleday & Co.
- [46] Dane Harkin, William Cartwright, and Michael Black. 2005. Decomposing the Map: Using Head-up Display for Vehicle Navigation. In *Proceedings of the 22nd International Cartographic Conference (ICC 2005).*
- [47] Jani Heikkinen, Erno Mäkinen, Jani Lylykangas, Toni Pakkanen, Kaisa Väänänen-Vainio-Mattila, and Roope Raisamo. 2013. Mobile Devices As Infotainment User Interfaces in the Car: Contextual Study and Design Implications. In Proceedings of the 15th International Conference on Human-computer Interaction with Mobile Devices and Services (MobileHCI 2013). 137–146.

- [48] David M. Hoffman, Ahna R. Girshick, Kurt Akeley, and Martin S. Banks. 2008. Vergence– Accommodation Conflicts Hinder Visual Performance and Cause Visual Fatigue. *Journal of Vision* 8, 3 (2008), 33–33.
- [49] Robin Hornig. 2017. VW auf der CES 2017. (2017). http://www.autobild.de/artikel/ vw-auf-der-ces-2017-vorstellung-11183365.html last accessed on February 12, 2018.
- [50] William J. Horrey, Christopher D. Wickens, and Amy L. Alexander. 2003. The Effects of Head-Up Display Clutter and In-Vehicle Display Separation on Concurrent Driving Performance. *Proceedings of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society Annual Meeting* 47, 16 (2003), 1880–1884. DOI:http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/154193120304701610
- [51] Simon G. Hosking, Kristie L. Young, and Michael A. Regan. 2009. The Effects of Text Messaging on Young Drivers. *Human Factors: The Journal of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society* 51, 4 (2009), 582–592.
- [52] Head-Up Display (HUD). year unknown. Garmin. (year unknown). https://buy.garmin. com/de-DE/DE/p/134348 last accessed on February 3, 2018.
- [53] Yasuhiro Inuzuka, Yoshimasa Osumi, and Hiroaki Shinkai. 1991. Visibility of Head up Display (HUD) for Automobiles. *Proceedings of the Human Factors Society Annual Meeting* 35, 20 (1991), 1574–1578. DOI:http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/154193129103502033
- [54] Richie Jose, Gun A. Lee, and Mark Billinghurst. 2016. A Comparative Study of Simulated Augmented Reality Displays for Vehicle Navigation. In *Proceedings of the 28th Australian Conference on Computer-Human Interaction (OzCHI '16)*. ACM, New York, NY, USA, 40–48. DOI:http://dx.doi.org/10.1145/3010915.3010918
- [55] James W. Kalat. 2004. Biological Psychology. Thomson Wadsworth.
- [56] Andras Kemeny. 2014. From Driving Simulation to Virtual Reality. In Proceedings of the 2014 Virtual Reality International Conference (VRIC '14). ACM, New York, NY, USA, Article 32, 5 pages. DOI:http://dx.doi.org/10.1145/2617841.2620721
- [57] Dagmar Kern and Albrecht Schmidt. 2009. Design Space for Driver-based Automotive User Interfaces. In Proceedings of the 1st International Conference on Automotive User Interfaces and Interactive Vehicular Applications (AutomotiveUI '09). ACM, New York, NY, USA, 3–10. DOI:http://dx.doi.org/10.1145/1620509.1620511
- [58] Raymond J Kiefer. 1991. Effect of a Head-up versus Head-down Digital Speedometer on Visual Sampling Behavior and Speed Control Performance During Daytime Automobile Driving (Report No. 910111). Technical Report. SAE International.
- [59] Hyungil Kim, Alexandre Miranda Anon, Teruhisa Misu, Nanxiang Li, Ashish Tawari, and Kikuo Fujimura. 2016. Look at Me: Augmented Reality Pedestrian Warning System Using an In-Vehicle Volumetric Head Up Display. In Proceedings of the 21st International Conference on Intelligent User Interfaces (IUI '16). ACM, New York, NY, USA, 294–298. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.1145/2856767.2856815

- [60] SeungJun Kim and Anind K. Dey. 2009. Simulated Augmented Reality Windshield Display As a Cognitive Mapping Aid for Elder Driver Navigation. In *Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems (CHI '09)*. ACM, New York, NY, USA, 133–142. DOI:http://dx.doi.org/10.1145/1518701.1518724
- [61] Andrew L. Kun. 2018. Human-Machine Interaction for Vehicles: Review and Outlook. Foundations and Trends in Human-Computer Interaction 11, 4 (2018), 201–293. DOI:http: //dx.doi.org/10.1561/110000069
- [62] Andrew L Kun, Hidde van der Meulen, and Christian P Janssen. 2017. Calling While Driving: An Initial Experiment with HoloLens. (2017).
- [63] M. Kyriakidis, R. Happee, and J.C.F. de Winter. 2015. Public Opinion on Automated Driving: Results of an International Questionnaire among 5000 Respondents. *Transportation Research Part F: Traffic Psychology and Behaviour* 32 (July 2015), 127–140. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.trf.2015.04.014 http://linkinghub.elsevier. com/retrieve/pii/S1369847815000777.
- [64] Nicolas La Rocco. 2017. Pkw-Cockpit der Zukunft: VW kombiniert 3D-Display mit Eyetracking und AR. (2017). https://www.computerbase.de/2017-01/ pkw-cockpit-zukunft-vw-3d-display-eyetracking-ar/ last accessed on February 12, 2018.
- [65] Dave Lamble, Matti Laakso, and Heikki Summala. 1999. Detection Thresholds in Car Following Situations and Peripheral Vision: Implications for Positioning of Visually Demanding in-car Displays. *Ergonomics* 42, 6 (1999), 807–815.
- [66] Sabine Langlois, Thomas NGuyen That, and Pierre Mermillod. 2016. Virtual Head-up Displays for Augmented Reality in Cars: A User Testing to Validate the Congruence. In *Proceedings of the European Conference on Cognitive Ergonomics (ECCE '16)*. ACM, New York, NY, USA, Article 15, 8 pages. DOI:http://dx.doi.org/10.1145/2970930.2970946
- [67] I. Larish and Christopher D. Wickens. 1991. Attention and HUDs: Flying in the Dark. In Society for Information Display International Symposium Digest of Technical Papers XXII.
- [68] Felix Lauber and Andreas Butz. 2013. View Management for Driver Assistance in an HMD. In 2013 IEEE International Symposium on Mixed and Augmented Reality (ISMAR). 1–6. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/ISMAR.2013.6671828
- [69] Felix Lauber and Andreas Butz. 2014. In-your-face, Yet Unseen?: Improving Head-stabilized Warnings to Reduce Reaction Time. In Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems (CHI '14). ACM, New York, NY, USA, 3201–3204. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.1145/2556288.2557063
- [70] John D. Lee, Michael A. Regan, and Kristie L. Young. 2008. What Drives Distraction? Distraction as a Breakdown of Multilevel Control. In *Driver Distraction Theory, Effects, and Mitigation*, Michael A. Regan, John D. Lee, and Kristie L. Young (Eds.). CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, USA, Chapter 4, 41–56. DOI:http://dx.doi.org/10.1201/9781420007497.ch4
- [71] Victoria K. Lee, Chantelle R. Champagne, and Louis Hugo Francescutti. 2013. Fatal Distraction. Cell Phone Use while Driving. *Can Fam Physician* 59, 7 (2013), 723–725.

- [72] Patrick Lindemann and Gerhard Rigoll. 2016. Exploring Floating Stereoscopic Driver-car Interfaces with Wide Field-of-view in a Mixed Reality Simulation. In *Proceedings of the 22Nd* ACM Conference on Virtual Reality Software and Technology (VRST '16). ACM, New York, NY, USA, 331–332. DOI:http://dx.doi.org/10.1145/2993369.2996299
- [73] Yung-Ching Liu. 2003. Effects of Using Head-up Display in Automobile Context on Attention Demand and Driving Performance. *Displays* 24, 4 (2003), 157 – 165. DOI:http://dx.doi. org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.displa.2004.01.001
- [74] Yung-Ching Liu and Ming-Hui Wen. 2004. Comparison of Head-up Display (HUD) vs. Head-down Display (HDD): Driving Performance of Commercial Vehicle Operators in Taiwan. *International Journal of Human-Computer Studies* 61, 5 (2004), 679 – 697. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhcs.2004.06.002
- [75] Arien Mack. 2003. Inattentional Blindness: Looking Without Seeing. Current Directions in Psychological Science 12, 5 (2003), 180–184. DOI:http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/ 1467-8721.01256
- [76] Wendy E. Mackay, Anne-Laure Fayard, Laurent Frobert, and Lionel Médini. 1998. Reinventing the Familiar: Exploring an Augmented Reality Design Space for Air Traffic Control. In *Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems* (CHI '98). ACM Press/Addison-Wesley Publishing Co., New York, NY, USA, 558–565. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.1145/274644.274719
- [77] Sampada Marathe and S. Shyam Sundar. 2011. What Drives Customization?: Control or Identity?. In Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems (CHI '11). ACM, New York, NY, USA, 781–790. DOI:http://dx.doi.org/10.1145/1978942. 1979056
- [78] Jr. Mark C. Schall, Michelle L. Rusch, John D. Lee, Jeffrey D. Dawson, Geb Thomas, Nazan Aksan, and Matthew Rizzo. 2013. Augmented Reality Cues and Elderly Driver Hazard Perception. *Human Factors* 55, 3 (2013), 643–658. DOI:http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0018720812462029 PMID: 23829037.
- [79] Robert S McCann and David C Foyle. 1994. Superimposed Symbology: Attentional Problems and Design Solutions (Report No. 942111). Technical Report. SAE International.
- [80] Robert S. McCann, David C. Foyle, and James C. Johnston. 1993. Attentional Limitations with Head-Up Displays. In *Proceedings of the Seventh International Symposium on Aviation Psychology*, R. S. Jensen (Ed.). 70–75.
- [81] Zeljko Medenica, Andrew L. Kun, Tim Paek, and Oskar Palinko. 2011. Augmented Reality vs. Street Views: A Driving Simulator Study Comparing Two Emerging Navigation Aids. In Proceedings of the 13th International Conference on Human Computer Interaction with Mobile Devices and Services (MobileHCI '11). ACM, New York, NY, USA, 265–274. DOI:http: //dx.doi.org/10.1145/2037373.2037414
- [82] Monika Mitrevska, Sandro Castronovo, Angela Mahr, and Christian Müller. 2012. Physical and Spiritual Proximity: Linking Car2X Communication with Online Social Networks. In

Proceedings of the 4th International Conference on Automotive User Interfaces and Interactive Vehicular Applications (AutomotiveUI '12). ACM, New York, NY, USA, 249–256. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.1145/2390256.2390297

- [83] Jörg Müller, Florian Alt, Daniel Michelis, and Albrecht Schmidt. 2010. Requirements and Design Space for Interactive Public Displays. In *Proceedings of the 18th ACM International Conference on Multimedia (MM '10)*. ACM, New York, NY, USA, 1285–1294. DOI:http: //dx.doi.org/10.1145/1873951.1874203
- [84] Navdy. unknown year. Product. (unknown year). https://www.navdy.com/product# driving last accessed on February 3, 2018.
- [85] Navion. 2018. The First Holographic AR Navigation System for Cars. (2018). https://wayray.com/navion last accessed on February 12, 2018.
- [86] Victor Ng-Thow-Hing, Karlin Bark, Lee Beckwith, Cuong Tran, R. Bhandari, and Srinath Sridhar. 2013. User-centered Perspectives for Automotive Augmented Reality. In 2013 IEEE International Symposium on Mixed and Augmented Reality Arts, Media, and Humanities (ISMAR-AMH). 13–22. DOI:http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/ISMAR-AMH.2013.6671262
- [87] Laurence Nigay and Joëlle Coutaz. 1993. A Design Space for Multimodal Systems: Concurrent Processing and Data Fusion. In Proceedings of the INTERACT '93 and CHI '93 Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems (CHI '93). ACM, New York, NY, USA, 172–178. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.1145/169059.169143
- [88] NUVIZ. 2016. The Motorcycle Head-Up Display. http://www.ridenuviz.com/#intro. (2016). last accessed on 2016-07-14.
- [89] Sakata Okabayashi, M Sakata, and T Hatada. 1991. Driver's Ability to Recognize Objects in the Forward View with Superimposition of Head-up Display Images. *Proceedings of the Society of Information Displays* 32 (1991), 465–468.
- [90] J. Kevin O'Regan and Alva Noë. 2001. A Sensorimotor Account of Vision and Visual Consciousness. *Behavioral and Brain Sciences Behav. Brain Sci.* 24, 05 (2001), 939–973. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/s0140525x01000115
- [91] Antti Oulasvirta and Kasper Hornbæk. 2016. HCI Research As Problem-Solving. In Proceedings of the 2016 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems (CHI '16). ACM, New York, NY, USA, 4956–4967. DOI:http://dx.doi.org/10.1145/2858036.2858283
- [92] Panasonic Automotive (PAISEU). Systems Europe 2016. Panasonic Presents Next-generation Augmented Reality Head-Up Display. http://eu.automotive.panasonic.com/news-and-events/news/ (2016).panasonic-presents-next-generation-augmented-reality-head-display last accessed on February 12, 2018.
- [93] Kyung S. Park, Il Haeng Cho, Gi Beom Hong, Tek-Jin Nam, Jinyung Park, Seong Ik Cho, and In-hak Joo. 2007. Disposition of Information Entities and Adequate Level of Information Presentation in an In-Car Augmented Reality Navigation System. In *Human Interface and the Management of Information. Interacting in Information Environments*, Michael J. Smith and Gavriel Salvendy (Eds.). Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg, 1098–1108.

- [94] YungKyung Park and DaEun Park. 2015. Evaluation for the Usage of HUD Contents Depending on Gender While Driving. In SIGGRAPH Asia 2015 Head-Up Displays and Their Applications (SA '15). ACM, New York, NY, USA, Article 4, 2 pages. DOI:http://dx.doi.org/10. 1145/2818406.2835236
- [95] Annie Pauzie. 2015. Head Up Display in Automotive: A New Reality for the Driver. In *Design*, User Experience, and Usability: Interactive Experience Design, Aaron Marcus (Ed.). Springer International Publishing, Cham, 505–516.
- [96] Stephen D. Peterson, Magnus Axholt, and Stephen R. Ellis. 2009. Objective and Subjective Assessment of Stereoscopically Separated Labels in Augmented Reality. *Computers & Graphics* 33, 1 (2009), 23 – 33. DOI:http://dx.doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cag. 2008.11.006
- [97] Pioneer. unknown year. SPX-HUD01. NavGate Head-Up Display. (unknown year). https: //www.pioneer-car.eu/de/de/products/spx-hud01 last accessed on February 3, 2018.
- [98] Laura Pomarjanschi, Michael Dorr, and Erhardt Barth. 2012. Gaze Guidance Reduces the Number of Collisions with Pedestrians in a Driving Simulator. ACM Trans. Interact. Intell. Syst. 1, 2, Article 8 (Jan. 2012), 14 pages. DOI:http://dx.doi.org/10.1145/2070719.2070721
- [99] Audi Technology Portal. 2011. Head-Up Display. (2011). https:// www.audi-technology-portal.de/de/elektrik-elektronik/bedienung/ head-up-display last accessed on February 4, 2018.
- [100] Qing Rao, Tobias Tropper, Christian Grünler, Markus Hammori, and Samarjit Chakraborty. 2014. AR-IVI: Implementation of In-Vehicle Augmented Reality. In 2014 IEEE International Symposium on Mixed and Augmented Reality (ISMAR). 3–8. DOI:http://dx.doi.org/10. 1109/ISMAR.2014.6948402
- [101] Majken K. Rasmussen, Esben W. Pedersen, Marianne G. Petersen, and Kasper Hornbæk. 2012. Shape-changing Interfaces: A Review of the Design Space and Open Research Questions. In *Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems (CHI* '12). ACM, New York, NY, USA, 735–744. DOI:http://dx.doi.org/10.1145/2207676. 2207781
- [102] Michael A. Regan, Charlene Hallett, and Craig P. Gordon. 2011. Driver Distraction and Driver Inattention: Definition, Relationship and Taxonomy. *Accident Analysis & Prevention* 43, 5 (2011), 1771–1781. DOI:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.aap.2011.04.008
- [103] Gordon H. Robinson, Donald J. Erickson, Gregory L. Thurston, and Richard L. Clark. 1972.
 Visual Search by Automobile Drivers. *Human Factors* 14, 4 (1972), 315–323. DOI:http: //dx.doi.org/10.1177/001872087201400404 PMID: 5054828.
- [104] Mark C. Schall, Michelle L. Rusch, John D. Lee, Shaun Vecera, and Matthew Rizzo. 2010. Attraction Without Distraction: Effects of Augmented Reality Cues on Driver Hazard Perception. (2010). DOI:http://dx.doi.org/10.1167/10.7.236

- [105] Fumihisa Shibata, Hiroyuki Nakamoto, Ryoichi Sasaki, Asako Kimura, and Hideyuki Tamura. 2008. A View Management Method for Mobile Mixed Reality Systems. In *Eurographics Symposium on Virtual Environments*, Robert van Liere and Betty Mohler (Eds.). The Eurographics Association. DOI:http://dx.doi.org/10.2312/EGVE/EGVE08/017-024
- [106] Irina Shklovski, Scott D. Mainwaring, Halla Hrund Skúladóttir, and Höskuldur Borgthorsson. 2014. Leakiness and Creepiness in App Space: Perceptions of Privacy and Mobile App Use. In Proceedings of the 32Nd Annual ACM Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems (CHI '14). ACM, New York, NY, USA, 2347–2356. DOI:http://dx.doi.org/10.1145/ 2556288.2557421
- [107] Russell J. Sojourner and Jonathan F. Antin. 1990. The Effects of a Simulated Head-Up Display Speedometer on Perceptual Task Performance. *Human Factors* 32, 3 (1990), 329–339. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/001872089003200306 PMID: 2258179.
- [108] Hans Straßburger, Lewis O. Harvey, and Ingo Rentschler. 1991. Contrast Thresholds for Identification of Numeric Characters in Direct and Eccentric View. *Perception & Psychophysics* 49, 6 (1991), 495–508. DOI:http://dx.doi.org/10.3758/BF03212183
- [109] Hans Straßburger, Ingo Rentschler, and Martin Jüttner. 2011. Peripheral Vision and Pattern Recognition: A Review. Journal of Vision 11, 5 (2011), 13. DOI:http://dx.doi.org/10. 1167/11.5.13
- [110] Heikki Summala, Tapio Nieminen, and Maaret Punto. 1996. Maintaining Lane Position with Peripheral Vision during In-Vehicle Tasks. *Human Factors* 38, 3 (1996), 442–451. DOI:http: //dx.doi.org/10.1518/001872096778701944
- [111] Yasuhiro Takaki, Yohei Urano, Shinji Kashiwada, Hiroshi Ando, and Koji Nakamura. 2011. Super Multi-view Windshield Display for Long-distance Image Information Presentation. Opt. Express 19, 2 (Jan 2011), 704–716. DOI:http://dx.doi.org/10.1364/0E.19.000704
- [112] Kohei Tanaka, Yasue Kishino, Masakazu Miyamae, Tsutomu Terada, and Shojiro Nishio. 2008. An Information Layout Method for an Optical See-through Head Mounted Display Focusing on the Viewability. In Proceedings of the 7th IEEE/ACM International Symposium on Mixed and Augmented Reality (ISMAR '08). IEEE Computer Society, Washington, DC, USA, 139–142. DOI:http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/ISMAR.2008.4637340
- [113] Marcus Tönnis, Christian Lange, and Gudrun Klinker. 2007. Visual Longitudinal and Lateral Driving Assistance in the Head-Up Display of Cars. In *Proceedings of the 2007 6th IEEE and ACM International Symposium on Mixed and Augmented Reality (ISMAR '07)*. IEEE Computer Society, Washington, DC, USA, 1–4. DOI:http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/ISMAR. 2007.4538831
- [114] Marcus Tönnis, Marina Plavšić, and Gudrun Klinker. 2009. Survey and Classification of Head-Up Display Presentation Principles. In *Proceedings the 17th World Congress on Ergonomics*. International Ergonomics Association.
- [115] Noam Tractinsky, Rotem Abdu, Jodi Forlizzi, and Thomas Seder. 2011. Towards Personalisation of the Driver Environment: Investigating Responses to Instrument Cluster Design. *International journal of vehicle design* 55, 2-4 (2011), 208–236.

- [116] Victor Trent. 2005. Keeping Eye and Mind on the Road. (2005).
- [117] Phillip Tretten. 2011. Information Design Solutions for Automotive Displays: Focus on HUD. (2011).
- [118] Mohan M. Trivedi and Shinko Y. Cheng. 2007. Holistic Sensing and Active Displays for Intelligent Driver Support Systems. *Computer* 40, 5 (May 2007), 60–68. DOI:http://dx. doi.org/10.1109/MC.2007.170
- [119] Omer Tsimhoni, Paul Green, and Hiroshi Watanabe. 2001. Detecting and Reading Text on HUDs: Effects of Driving Workload and Message Location. In 11th Annual ITS America Meeting, Miami, FL, CD-ROM. http://www.umich.edu/~driving/publications/ ITSA-Tsimhoni2001.pdf
- [120] Omer Tsimhoni, Hiroshi Wantanbe, Paul Green, and Dana Friedman. 2000. Display of Short Text Messages on Automotive HUDs: Effects of Driving Workload and Message Location (Report No. UMTRI-2000-13). Technical Report. https://deepblue.lib.umich.edu/ bitstream/handle/2027.42/1320/94136.0001.001.pdf; sequence=2
- [121] Willem B. Verwey. 2000. On-line Driver Workload Estimation. Effects of Road Situation and Age on Secondary Task Measures. *Ergonomics* 43, 2 (2000), 187–209. DOI:http://dx.doi. org/10.1080/001401300184558 PMID: 10675058.
- [122] Kim J. Vicente. 1999. Cognitive Work Analysis: Toward Safe, Productive, and Healthy Computer-Based Work. Lawrence Erlbaum.
- [123] Trent W. Victor, Joanne L. Harbluk, and Johan A. Engström. 2005. Sensitivity of eyemovement measures to in-vehicle task difficulty. *Transportation Research Part F: Traffic Psychology and Behaviour* 8, 2 (2005), 167 – 190. DOI:http://dx.doi.org/https: //doi.org/10.1016/j.trf.2005.04.014 The relationship between distraction and driving performance: towards a test regime for in-vehicle information systems.
- [124] NJ Ward, A Parkes, and P Lindsay. 1995. The Effect of Automotive Head-up Displays on Attention to Critical Events in Traffic. In Proceedings of the International Conference on Experimental Analysis and Measurement of Situation Awareness. 375–382.
- [125] Adam Waytz, Joy Heafner, and Nicholas Epley. 2014. The Mind in the Machine: Anthropomorphism Increases Trust in an Autonomous Vehicle. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychol*ogy 52 (May 2014), 113–117. DOI:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jesp.2014.01.005 http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0022103114000067.
- [126] M. Weihrauch, G. G. Meloeny, and T. C. Goesch. 1989. The First Head Up Display Introduced by General Motors, In SAE Technical Paper. (02 1989). DOI:http://dx.doi.org/10.4271/ 890288
- [127] Garrett Weinberg, Bret Harsham, and Zeljko Medenica. 2011. Evaluating the Usability of a Head-up Display for Selection from Choice Lists in Cars. In Proceedings of the 3rd International Conference on Automotive User Interfaces and Interactive Vehicular Applications (AutomotiveUI '11). ACM, New York, NY, USA, 39–46. DOI:http://dx.doi.org/10.1145/ 2381416.2381423

- [128] Daniel J. Weintraub and Michael Ensing. *Human Factors Issues in Head-Up Display Design: The Book of HUD.* Technical Report.
- [129] Daniel J. Weintraub, Richard F. Haines, and Robert J. Randle. 1984. The Utility of Head-Up Displays: Eye-Focus vs Decision Times. *Proceedings of the Human Factors Society Annual Meeting* 28, 6 (1984), 529–533. DOI:http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/154193128402800617
- [130] Daniel J. Weintraub, Richard F. Haines, and Robert J. Randle. 1985. Head-Up Display (HUD) Utility, II: Runway to HUD Transitions Monitoring Eye Focus and Decision Times. *Proceedings* of the Human Factors Society Annual Meeting 29, 6 (1985), 615–619. DOI:http://dx.doi. org/10.1177/154193128502900621
- [131] Mohamed Nazeeh Wessam Hussein and Mahmoud MA Sayed. 2017. Investigation of Drivers FOV and Related Ergonomics Using Laser Shadowgraphy from Automotive Interior. *Journal* of Ergonomics 7, 4 (2017), 1–6. DOI:http://dx.doi.org/10.4172/2165-7556.1000207
- [132] Christopher D. Wickens and William Horrey. 2008. Models of Attention, Distraction, and Highway Hazard Avoidance. In *Driver Distraction Theory, Effects, and Mitigation*. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, USA, Chapter 5, 57–69. DOI:http://dx.doi.org/10.1201/ 9781420007497.ch5
- [133] Christopher D. Wickens and J. S. McCarley. 2007. Applied Attention Theory. CRC Press. https://books.google.de/books?id=dIagIraXHPUC
- [134] Marc Wittmann, Miklós Kiss, Peter Gugg, Alexander Steffen, Martina Fink, Ernst Pöppel, and Hiroyuki Kamiya. 2006. Effects of Display Position of a Visual In-vehicle Task on Simulated Driving. Applied Ergonomics 37, 2 (2006), 187 – 199. DOI:http://dx.doi.org/https: //doi.org/10.1016/j.apergo.2005.06.002
- [135] J.S Wolffsohn, N.A McBrien, G.K Edgar, and T Stout. 1998. The Influence of Cognition and Age on Accommodation, Detection Rate and Response Times when Using a Car Head-up display (HUD). *Ophthalmic and Physiological Optics* 18, 3 (1998), 243 – 253. DOI:http: //dx.doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0275-5408(97)00094-X
- [136] Wen Wu, Fabian Blaicher, Jie Yang, Thomas Seder, and Dehua Cui. 2009. A Prototype of Landmark-based Car Navigation Using a Full-windshield Head-up Display System. In Proceedings of the 2009 Workshop on Ambient Media Computing (AMC '09). ACM, New York, NY, USA, 21–28. DOI:http://dx.doi.org/10.1145/1631005.1631012
- [137] Herbert Yoo, Omer Tsimhoni, Hiroshi Watanabe, Paul Green, and Raina Shah. 1999. Display of HUD Warnings to Drivers: Determining an Optimal Location. Technical Report. http://deepblue.lib.umich.edu/bitstream/handle/2027.42/1282/92251. 0001.001.pdf?sequence=2

TERMS & ABBREVIATIONS

- 2D / 3D registered The AR content matches the location (2D) or also the depth (3D) of the augmented object.
- **accomodation** When focusing on an object (closer than 10 m), the eyes accommodate to its distance so that the object is perceived sharply.
- **AlloSphere** The AlloSphere is a near-to-spherical VR situation room with a diameter of 10 m and a bridge to walk through it.
- **augmented virtuality** (AV) Real objects are placed in a virtual world. In the context of the thesis, a driving setup is placed in a VR situation room..
- **augmented reality** (**AR**) The real world is overlaid by a digital readout. In the context of driving, the digital (WSD) information is merged seamlessly into the real world.
- **car-stabilized / screen-fixed** The static placement of content within a specific area on the (wind-shield) display (car-stabilized).
- combiner A transparent mirror into which the HUD image is reflected to be visible to the driver.
- conformal AR The augmenting information is designed and placed naturalistically.
- **ConTRe task** The *continuous tracking and reaction task* requires the driver to control the horizontal position of a cylinder to match the position of another autonomous cylinder. Further the driver has to react to random green and red light through breaking or accelerating.
- **detection-response task** The participant has to detect, recognize and respond to stimuli that appear within the field of view (on the WSD). For example, the participant has to press a button if the appearing stimuli has the shape of a triangle.
- driving-related tasks Summarizes primary and secondary tasks.
- field of view (FoV) The area which is visually perceptible to the human (human visual field)..
- head-stabilized The static placement of content at a fixed position within the person's field of view.
- **lane change task (LCT)** The lane change task requires the participant to drive on a highway with three lanes and to change to a defined lane upon a periodic trigger.
- **line of sight** The line between the point the driver focuses on and the eyes. The driver normally focuses on down the road and slightly below the horizon and with a slight shift to the right. In driving research, the line of sight is assumed to be static.

non-driving-related tasks See tertiary task.

oculomotor mechanics The eyes rotate and accommodate in distance when focusing on an object which is closer than 10 m.

- **primary task** In the context of the task level, the primary task describes all tasks that required to safely control and manoeuvre the car; e.g. lateral or speed control. In the context of the study design, it refers to the task that is most important or requires the most resources from the the participant (usually driving).
- **registration** The AR content is placed spatially close to the related object. The AR information remains spatially close to the related object and hence moves along when the car or the driver moves.
- **secondary task** In the context of the task levels, the secondary task comprises all tasks that are related to driving but not crucial for it; e.g. windshield wipers. In the context of the study design, the secondary task is performed next to driving and related to the perception of or interaction with the in-car system.
- stabilization The (WSD) content is displayed at a fixed position; e.g. stabilized to the head or car.
- **stimulus/-li** We regard a stimulus as a (simple) graphical item displayed on the WSD (mostly related to the detection-response task).
- **task level** The drivers' tasks can be subdivided into the three task levels primary, secondary, and tertiary task.
- tasks All actions a driver performs within the car.
- tertiary task All tasks which are not related to driving but performed meanwhile; e.g. music control.
- **vergence** When focusing on an object (closer than 10 m), the eyes rotate (towards each other) so that both eyes focus on the same point.
- view management A concept or set of rules that defines the placement of content in a dynamic scene.
- virtual image The (reflected) image that is visible to the driver through the combiner.
- world-registered The AR content is placed spatially close to the related real world object.
- **WSD** (vs. HUD) The windshield display differentiates itself from the HUD through an extended size (at least 40% horizontally and vertically) and potentially depth (multiple layers to continuous depth coverage).
APPENDIX

APPENDIX A

Prototype Variants and Test Environment

Below, the HUD and WSD prototype variants which were introduced earlier (see section on *Prototypes*) are explained in more detail. The basic construction principles as well as examples from literature and our own work are described.

Graphic Windshield Display Both, WSD image and driving scene are presented on one large display. Such setup is easy to realize and hence a common approach particularly to explore new concepts (e.g., [127]). Yet, as the HUD and scene are not spatially separated and unrealistic in size and distance, these setups are inappropriate for studies about visual perception.

We applied this setup in one user study that explored interaction with the WSD (see (3) in figure 4.2). Compliant with Gish and Staplin's [42] requirement, we did not apply such setup to evaluate the driver's perception.

Projected Windshield Display The superimposition of the image directly on the windshield is reached either through integrating transparent displays such as OLEDs into the windshield [13] or through the targeting of a (laser) projection onto the windshield [32, 136]. Both approaches are not investigated deeply, presumably, due to their disadvantages.

We implemented a projector-based WSD to explore its applicability for prototyping and its advantages and disadvantages in comparison with the conventional HUD approach [P10]. We placed a conventional, full-color projector in the co-driver's feet area and targeted it onto a mirror which forwarded the image to the windshield. The obtained image was of high quality and covered nearly the entire windshield (see (6) in figure 4.2).

However, in a car mockup the image is slanted like the windshield and focusing on it is demanding, particularly in the upper part (due to low image distance). As follows, we consider the display directly on the windshield as non-advisable. Yet, such realization might be an interesting and low-cost alternative particularly for trucks, busses and utility vehicles. Those vehicles often feature an upright windshield which renders the reflection in the windshield impossible, as also pointed out by Dingus et al. [31].

Mirrored Windshield Display As explained earlier, conventional HUDs are based on the principle of light reflection. A display is positioned below the windshield or a separate combiner that reflects the light and creates a virtual image that seems to float above the car's hood. HUD prototypes are often based on this approach, however, they are of varying fidelity and relevance for research on windshield displays. We regard 2D and 3D prototypes of medium to large size as relevant (e.g., [4, 17, 74, 111]).

We utilized a similar 2D setup of varying dimensions in five user studies. The setups shared the virtual image distance of approximately 1.7 m and were perceptible from any position (no experiencable eyebox). For the studies presented in [P5, P10] we lined up three 32" displays below the windshield and reached a virtual image of approximately $43^{\circ} \times 24^{\circ}$ (see (2) and (7) in figure 4.2). This setup was qualitatively and quantitatively compared to a projected WSD [P10]. Equivalently, we lined up two 32" displays and obtained a virtual image of approximately $51^{\circ} \times 13^{\circ}$ [P9]. When lining up several

displays the image is subdivided through the displays' frames which might become problematic, for example, when testing augmented reality.

We also implemented a smaller HUD variant which can be used in conjunction with a real car. We placed a similar setup utilizing a 12" tablet and an additional combiner on its hood and obtained a virtual image size of approximately $8^{\circ} \times 6^{\circ}$ (see (1) in figure 4.2 and [P6]). Such setup could also host a larger display and further extend the virtual image distance, similar to the prototype from Liu [74].

Reflection-based setups are easy to implement and low-cost. In contrast to the projector-based variant, the virtual image is upright and presented in a larger distance which is easier to focus on. Distances of 1 to 1.7 m are easy to realize and similar to the ones of conventional HUDs (see paragraph on *Image Distance*). For larger distances, the image source and combiner need to be placed between car (mockup) and driving scene (see Liu [74] and [P6]). Prototypes with an image distance between 0.7 and 1 m require less space and could also be used in real-world studies, similar to the HUD smartphone applications (see section on *Technological Realization*).

When implementing such prototype, one has to compromize between image size and distance (as the image covers a smaller FoV when displayed in a greater distance, unless lenses are integrated). Furthermore, utilizing a standard glass pane as combiner will lead to two slightly misaligned images (*double image*) which can hamper the readability. The visibility of this effect can be reduced but not abolished through thin combiners.

See-through Head-mounted Display See-through HMDs still face technological challenges, which is why we currently consider them as inappropriate for the use in cars. As HMDs are head-stabilized by default, the conventional (screen-)fixed placement of the HUD content requires tedious implementation. The provided image size and resolution are often low and the construction often blocks the peripheral vision, which is highly important for driving [23]. Lauber et al. [68] tested the use of see-through HMDs in the car and described further problems.

Yet, we think that see-through head-mounted display prototypes might provide a good display alternative to motorcyclists. This application area faces tight space and weight restrictions and so it is not surprising that the count of available devices is still limited although a lot of effort is invested into the development (e.g., [30, 88], as discussed in [P2]). The display image can be monocular or binocular as well as 2D or 3D but is in any case separated from the driving scene. Accordingly, it is presented to one or both eyes and generated by means of a projection unit or a HUD-like construction which is attached to the helmet.

We based our helmet-mounted prototype on the principle of image reflection, which is typically applied for HUDs. We used a smartphone as display unit and amplified the setup with mirrors, lenses and a combiner to reach a small and light-weight prototype [P2]. The generated image covers a large field of view of up to $37^{\circ} \times 37^{\circ}$ and provides a perceived image distance of 1 to 2 m (see (5) in figure 4.2). To test this prototype, we used a motorcycle variant of our car mockup.

Monocular HMDs bring along the rivalry phenomena which leads to a blending of the images perceived through both eyes (augmenting stimuli are suppressed as they are conflicting with the image perceived through the other eye) [29]. To counter this effect, we advanced our setup to a binocular (3D) helmet-mounted display through shifting the setup to the forehead, however, this prototype has not been applied in an user study or published yet. Since only recently, toolkits for binocular AR glasses such as the Holokit and the Aryzon DIY kit are available and constructed equivalently. **Non-see-through Head-mounted Display** Non-see-through head-mounted displays (VR glasses) slowly find their way into automotive UI research, however, they are rather applied for research on autonomous driving than HUDs (e.g., [7]). VR glasses are thought of being inappropriate technology for prototyping HUDs and WSDs as the WSD image and the driving scene are displayed through the same technology (like the graphic WSD). Furthermore, they have a near focus distance of approximately 2 m, a low resolution and hence a limited realism. As the driver is cut off from the surroundings, a virtual representation of a car mockup would be needed and matched perfectly with the real test environment.

We used the Google Cardboard in one formative study to display examples of full-size and 3D windshield displays to the participants [P8]. We also utilized the Google Cardboard in a performance test, however, this work remains unpublished due to lack of validity.

VR glasses and graphic and projected WSDs alike provide a low focus distance but a great opportunity for early-stage prototyping of WSD interfaces. Example scenes are fast and easy to implement as well as to adapt to the participants feedback. However the suitability of VR glasses for studies about oculomotor mechanisms is limited as they enforce vergence and accommodation conflicts which hamper performance and result in visual fatigue [48].

Augmented Virtuality Simulations In contrast to VR glasses, AV simulations are often 3D wall-projections that cover the entire FoV or even surround the user as in situation rooms. Such simulation rooms present a 3D virtual world and enable sound depth perception along with the unrestricted perception of the self and the car mockup. AV simulators such as the CAVE are expensive and complex and hence are rarely applied for driving simulations (e.g., [56, 72]). We used the Allo-Sphere, a near-to-spherical situation room, for our research about 3D information layouts [P1]. Both a real driving scene and the augmenting WSD content were displayed through the projection unit and framed through a car mockup to obtain an immersive experience (see (4) in figure 4.2).

Compared to VR glasses, AV simulations (can) feature a higher focal distance but drivers also suffer from the vergence and accommodation conflict. Such virtual worlds are highly complex to develop but can enable a realistic experience of the look and feel of a full-size 3D windshield display.

Test Environment For the driving simulator studies, we created car mockups which framed the windshield display to reach a more realistic setting (see figure 4.2 for examples). Real or artificial windshields and seats together with a gaming steering wheel and pedals formed the driver's workplace. In contrast to other automotive user interface research, realistic sizes of the windshield and the simulator scene were of particular importance to obtain a realistic visual field and sight but also to explore information placement across the windshield. Equivalently, we developed a motorcycle mockup with a real seat and a gaming steering bar.

When examining non-immersive (VR) prototypes, we adjusted the test environment to ensure a proper perception of the WSD image. We cut off ambient light and adapted the brightness of the simulator scene to be comfortable also in long-lasting driving tasks. This furthermore increased the relative brightness of the WSD image.

Ambient lighting situations vary considerably already during simple day- and nighttime shifts. We value the unimpeded perception of the examined system as more important than a bright daylight scene. Once the abilities of the future windshield display are known, the drivers' perception of the WSD image has to be researched under diverse natural lighting situations.

APPENDIX B

Revised View Management Concept

The first version of the view management concept is introduced in [P8]. We learned from our studies that the view management concept led to a better response performance than the personal layouts [P1]. Highly important information was perceived faster than less important content, which is highly desirable. Overall, we think that the results support the concept. However, as the first version of the view management concept was based primarily on literature about response time measurements, we now aim to balance it against the users' preferences. Accordingly, we adjust some areas of the view management concept to provide an even more consistent layout that also follows the users' preferences (see figure 6.1).

Many participants lined up icons along the bottom edge of the windshield. This lineup is similar to the vehicular and personal areas proposed in the view management concept. This suggests to adjust these areas to be of the same height and start at the same vertical position to create a more connected layout with more space available. Larger areas would allow a larger presentation of the icons, which could promote faster reading of especially complex information, such as maps or text, but might also increase distraction. In addition to the bottom edge, some drivers placed information on the left edge of the windshield. We do not follow this idea since this area is highly important particularly for cross traffic and left turns. Furthermore, our participants grouped items with the same context which supports our notion of assigning information to context-based spaces. Further observations are reported in the publication [P1]. We did not identify any generally consistent patterns regarding locations or depth values from the user-proposed layouts. This suggests that there is no generally intuitive position in the windshield area or in depth for the different types of information.

To optimize the view management concept, we suggest the following changes: We propose to move the area for personal content (3) upwards to -5° so that the content is at the same vertical position as the driving-related content. The areas remain separated horizontally for a better layout structure. The personal area (3) should be adapted to the HUD area (5) in depth. We further suggest to merge the text area (2) into the HUD area (5) since we found similar results for the two tested areas and the text to the



Figure 6.1: The revised view management concept: (1) urgent warnings, (2/5) driving-related information and prose texts on demand, (3) personal and (4) ambient information. The area for environment-related information (augmented reality content) is not depicted in the figure.

right of the center could occlude important parts of the driving scene. Consequently, a space sharing strategy will need to be found, e.g., hiding the driving-related content when a text is to be displayed (text should not be displayed on a regular basis) or extending the HUD area downwards and realigning the content. The areas for urgent warnings (1), ambient information (4) and environmental information (not depicted in figure 6.1) remain unchanged from the first version of the concept. Depending on the amount of the displayed information, the area for ambient information (4) could be merged into the area for personal information (3).

Regarding the depth ranges (zones), we suggest to adjust the depth range of the personal area (3) as well as the ambient area (4) to match the zone of the HUD area (5). This allows the driver to switch within the areas without additional eye accommodation effort. The zone for urgent warnings remains as suggested since our participants and the experimenters experienced a stimulus appearing in this area as interrupting and acquiring immediate attention. This supports the notion to use this area exclusively for very urgent and safety-relevant warnings. The zone of environmental information remains as suggested.

Eventually, the view management will need to be adapted to the driver. The areas for vehicular and textual information (2/5) as well as for urgent warnings (1) are placed rather centrally in the windshield and should in general be well perceptible for all drivers. However, the exact positions depend on the driver's height and seating position, so that the display should be calibrated to ensure that these areas won't shift up- or downwards and be invisible or hide the road scene. Furthermore, the areas for personal (3) and ambient (4) information are aligned to the top and bottom edge of the windshield and, consequently, need to be calibrated to the driver to ensure their visibility.